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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
DIVISION FOR CHILDREN, YOUTH & FAMILIES

129 PLEASANT STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301-3857
603-271-4451  1-800-852-3345 Ext. 4451
Fax: 603-271-4729 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964 www.dhhs.nh.gov

Lori A. Shibinette
Commissioner

Joseph E. Ribsam, Jr.
Director

March 19, 2020

His Exceliency, Governor Christopher T. Sunuhu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Heaith and Human Services, Division for Children, Youth and
Families, to enter into a sole source amendment to an existing agreement with the President and
Fellows of Harvard College, acting through the Taubman Center for State and Local Government at
the Harvard Kennedy School Government Performance Lab (“GPL"), of 79 John F. Kennedy Street,
Taubman Building, Third Floor, Cambridge, MA 01238, to provide intensive technical assistance to
improve the delivery of child protection services, by increasing the price limitation to $140,000, from
$0.00 to $140,000, effective upon Governor and Executive Council approval. 100% General Funds.

This agreement was originally approved by the Governor and Executive Council on July 31,
2019 (ltem #25), at no cost to the Department. The Department is adding funding to support the
delivery of additional services, with no change to the term of the agreement.

Funds are available in the following account for State Fiscal Year 2020 with authority to adjust
amounts within the price limitation and adjust encumbrances between State Fiscal Years through the
Budget Office, if needed and justified.

05-95-42-421010-29580000, HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS, HHS: HUMAN SERVICES, Child Protection, Child — Family Services

State Class / Job Current | Increased Revised
Fiscal Account Class Title Number Modified |(Decreased) | Modified
Year Budget Amount Budget
Title IV-E Foster Care
2020 636-504180 Placement 42105840 $0 $140,000 | $140,000
Total $0 $140,000 | $140,000
EXPLANATION

This request is sole source because the Harvard Kennedy School Government Performance
Lab (GPL) provides unique, intensive technical assistance to states to enhance child welfare and
early childhood policies, programs and services. Since 2011, GPL has engaged in 89 government-
side technical assistance projects with 65 jurisdictions spread across 30 states, using new data-
driven public management tools to achieve better outcomes. Approval of this amendment to the
agreement will allow the Department to continue o work with GPL to design and implement a variety
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of “Innovation Initiatives” to support New Hampshire's child welfare transformation efforts.
“Innovation Initiatives” include improvements to procurement and contracting processes, use of data
to inform service delivery and referral systems, piloting of new services or service-delivery models,
establishing active contract management systems between governments and service providers,
optimizing resource allocation, and other initiatives designed to improve government performance.

The purpose of the GPL is to provide assistance to enhance the system serving at risk
children and families to prevent maltreatment, reduce the need for children to be placed outside their
homes and communities, and to create connections across the Department and the community to
support families before crises occur. GPL provides services to develop the Department's capacity to
strategically use data, contracts, and provider management to better meet the needs of families and
produce improved outcomes. Assistance from GP currently includes:

» Strengthening the Department's upstream prevention and child abuse hotline operations to
improve community connections and reduce unnecessary assessments. This involves
continuing to support improved decision-making and operations at the hotline with data-driven
adjustments to supervision, decision-support, and policy about which reports require child
protection responses. It also involves strengthening the use of data to more systematically
make connections to primary prevention resources — such as family resource centers, family
home, visiting, early childhood, economic supports, and health and wellness care for families —
for screened-out families and families looking for information on community-based programs.

e Building a voluntary services array focused on family-strengthening and other community-
based resources that keep children safe in their homes and communities and prevent entry
into out of home care. GPL supports the Department in proactively using case and population
level data to assess and identify child and family's needs, align and monitor service plans, and
improve service delivery in real-time. Additionally, GPL supports development and continuous
improvement of a statewide continuum of locally designed and delivered prevention services,
including a System of Care to preventatively respond to youth behavioral health care needs,
family home visiting, and Family Resource Centers.

» Revamping management service strategies for open child welfare cases that enable children
to be safely cared for in their families and communities. This involves helping Department staff

design, test and spread needs assessment, procurement, matching, and performance

management approaches to key services across its in-home and out-of-home service
continuum, including as-needed coaching to improve the capacity of foster care system. It
also involves building the Department’s capacity to spread and sustain these management
practices to its other program areas serving children and families through template materials,
sample contracts, case studies, implementation manuals, and staff trainings.

The Department recognizes the need to improve its contracting process for the Division of
Children, Youth and Families and the providers that serve children and families. Through this
amendment to the agreement, GPL will now deliver training to Department employees on using
results-driven contracting strategies and will assist in the development or modification of tools,
templates, and other resources for planning and executing contracts. GPL will also assist in the
development of procurement models to enhance the delivery of vital services.
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Should the Governor and Executive Council not authorize this Request, the Department will
miss out on an opportunity to develop and implement initiatives to modernize and improve the
delivery of services to New Hampshire's most vulnerable children. The Department’s ability to better
prevent child abuse and neglect, including fatalities, and to keep children safely in their homes and
communities will be significantly diminished.

Area served: Statewide.

Source of Funds: 100% General Funds.

espectfully s itted,

Lori A. SHjbi
Commissioner

The Department of Health and Human Services’ Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunilies for citizens to achieve health and independence.



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Harvard Collaboration Agreement

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services
Amendment #1 to the Collaboration Agreement

This 1** Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement (hereinafter referred to as “Amendment #17) is by
and between the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services ("State") and the
President and Fellows of Harvard College, acting through the Taubman Center for State and Local
Government at the Marvard Kennedy School Government Performance Lab (*Harvard™}, of 78 John F.
Kennedy Street, Taubman Building, Third Floor, Cambhridge, MA 01238, The State and Harvard are
referred to as the parties.

WHEREAS, the parties entered into a Collaboration Agreement approved by the Governor and Executive
Council on July 31, 2019 (Item #25),

WHEREAS, the parties have agreed to make changes to the scope of services and to increase the price
limitation to support continued delivery of services;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions
contained in the Collaboration Agreement and set forth herein, the parties agree to amend the
Collaboration Agreement as follows:

1. Paragraph 5, Other Support, is deleted in its entirety and replaced as follows:

As agreed from time to time by Professor Liebman and the Agency advisor, Professor Liebman,
supported by the Fellow and by ather members of the Harvard Team as Professor Liebman judges to be
appropriate, will, subject to the last sentence of this paragraph, (i) assist the Agency in policy analysis;
(i) assist the Agency in the preparation of requests for proposals and other materials for third parties
with respect to their possible participation in financing of or furnishing services under Innovation
Initiatives for the State, and provide other technical support; {iii) deliver training to Agency employees on
using results-driven contracting strategies; (iv) assist the Agency to develop or adapt tools, templates,
and other resources for planning and executing results-driven contracting strategies; and (v) when
requested by the Agency, meet with such third parties to help explain the technical aspects of Innovation
Initiatives. Agency agrees that, if members of the Harvard Team shall do work relating to any Innovation
Initiative contract between the State and a third party, or at the request of the Agency communicate on
the State's behalf with that third party about the Innovation Initiative, said Innovation Initiative contract
will include as a contract term a limitation of liability of Harvard and the Harvard Team to the same effect
as is set out in section 9. The Harvard Team may also, at its discrétion and as a condition of providing
services relating to said contract or said third party, require the third party to agree to such limitation of
liability in a separate contract with Harvard.

2. The price limitation is increased to $140,000, in accordance with Exhibit A, Method and
Conditions Precedent to Payment, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein.

3. All terms and conditions of the Collaboration Agreement not inconsistent with this Amendment #1
remain in full force and effect.

Harvard ' Amendment #1 Contractor Initials MA
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Harvard Collaboration Agreement

This amendment shall be effective upon the date of Governor and Executive Council approval.
IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Hupr@h Services

Date 3
tle: Commissioner
President and Fellows of Harvard College acting through -
the Taubman Center for State and Local Government at the
Harvard Kennedy School
3/jao
Date Name-Megan Moore

Title: Associate Director, Grants and Contracts

Acknowledgement of Contractor's signature:

State of ., County of on , before the
undersigned officer, personally appeared the person identified directly above, or satisfactorily proven to
be the person whose name is signed above, and acknowledged that s/he executed this document in the
capacity indicated above.

See ;Ar—l—'ca(_\u..c‘

Signature of Notary Public or Justice of the Peace

Name and Title of Notary or Justice of the Peace

My Commissicn Expires:

Harvard Amendment #1
§8-2020-DCYF-07-FELLO Page2of 3



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Harvard Collaboration Agreement

The'precéding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, Is approved asto form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

Y J2t30 %AQ,Q @e,uhw

Date !

| hereby certify that the foregoing Amendmant was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on; _ {date of mesting)

[

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:
Title:
; i
L
i
Harvard . Amendment #1
85-2020-DCYF-07-FELLO Page 30f 3
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services _ ,
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Exhibit A

1.
2.
3.
]
4,
5.
Harvard

Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment

In consideration of Harvard agreeing to perform and implement the Innovation Initiatives,
and the specific requirements set forth in Paragraph 5, Other Support, of the Collaboration
Agreement, the State agrees to pay Harvard the firm fixed price of USD $140,000 (the “Fixed
Price"), payable in two payments of $70,000 each. Modifications to the Fixed Price shall
only be effective if made in writing and signed by duly authorized representatives of both
Parties.

Harvard shalt provide the State with two single line-item fixed price invoices in accordance
with the schedule below:

Date Amount

Within thirty days of approval of the Amendment
by the NH Governor and Executive Council $70,000
Thirty days prior to July 1, 2020 $70,000

The State shall pay the invoices within thirty (30} days of receipt. Harvard's failure to provide
the invoices by the date specified above will not relieve State from its obligation to make the
corresponding payment, but instead will entitle Sponsor to delay the due date of such
payment until the date that is thirty (30) days after the date of Marvard's invoice, subsequent
to approval of the submitted invoice. ‘

In lieu of hard copies, the invoice may be assigned an electronic signature and emailed to
Kellie.Esdale@dhhs.nh.gov, or the invoice may be mailed to:

Kellie Esdale

Office of Finance

Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

This Agreement is funded with 100% General Funds, Accounting Unit: 29580000,
Class: 636, Account: 504180, Activity/Job Number: 42105840.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, all obligations of the State
hereunder, including, without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are

Exhibit A Coniractor Initials {!E M
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
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Exhibit A

Harvard

contingent upon the availability and conlinued appropriation of funds affected by any State
or federal legislative or executive action that redu'cés. eliminates or otherwise modifies the
appropriation or availability of funding for the services provided by Harvard in the
Collaboration Agreement, in whole or in part. In no event shall the State be liable for any
payments hereunder in excess of such available appropriated funds. In the event of a
reduction or termination of appropriated funds, the State shall have the right to withhold
payment until such funds become available, if ever, and shall have the right to reduce or.
terminate the Services under this Agreement immediately upon giving Harvard notice of
such reduction or termination. The State shall not be required to transfer funds from any
other account or source in the event funds in the Account referenced in paragraph 3 above
are reduced or unavailable.

Exhibit A Gontractor Inilials l\_f‘_’
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HARVARD

FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION
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Delegation of Signing Authority with Regard to Grants and Research Contracts

In accordance with the vote of the President and Fellows of Harvard College (the “Corporation”) on
December 4, 2006, relating to signing authority with regard to grants and research contracts, 1 delegate to
each of the following officers of Harvard University, the authority to sign on behalf of the Corporation
any instrument refating to the support of research or instruction performed in any faculty of the university
and under the support of any government or non-government agency, corporation or foundation,
including without limitation all sponsored research agreements with industry.

Office for Vice Provost for Research

* Vice Provost for Research Harvard Medical School
s Chief Research Compliance Officer and Senior

Advisor to the Provost ¢ Executive Director, Research Administration
e Associate Director
Office for Sponsored Programs s Manager
¢  Grants and Contracts Officer
s Assistant Vice President, Office for Sponsored s Grants Officer

Programs » Senior Sponsored Programs Officer
s Director, Pre-award Services '

Senior Grants and Contracts Officer

s Grants and Contracts Officer
¢  Assistant Grants and Contracts Officer In accordance with the terms of the HMS Efficiency
¢ Senior Manager/Manager, Grants and Contracts Project, in the Departments of Biological
Operations Chemistry Molecular Pharmacology,
e Sponsored Programs Officer Neurobiology, Genetics, Cell Biology and Systems
s Senior Grants and Contracts Specialist Biology:
*  Grants and Contracts Specialist * Director, Administration and Finance
Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health ¢ Finance Manager
* Agsistant Finance Manager
¢ Chief Research Administration Officer e Senior Research and Finance Administrator
s Senior Associate Director, Sponsored Programs
¢ Associate Director, Sponsored Programs
¢ Associate Director, Research Operations
Sincerely,
M 2bag i
Thomas Hollister Date

Vice President for Finance and Chief Financial Officer
Harvard University




HARVARD

FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION

©

OFFICE FOR SPONSOREC PROGRAMS

Confirmation of Signing Authority
Harvard University Office for Sponsored Programs

In my capacity as Assistant Vice President, Office for Sponsored Programs, 1, Sarah
Axelrod, hereby confirm that Megan Moore, Assaciate Director, Grants and Contracts,
has the authority to execute all research-related instruments and documentation, including
all grant and contract award agreements, on behalf of Harvard University.

il

Last updated: March 2020

1033 Massachusetts Avenue, 5% Floor, Cambridge, MA 02138
osp@harvard.edu
617-495-5501
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MESSACE FROM THE PRESIOENT

FINANCIAL QVERVIEW

A LETTER FROM THE PRESIDENT AND CEO

OF HARVARD MANAGEMENT COMPANY

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

FINANCIALU STATEMENTS

NOTES TO FINARCIAL STATEMENTS
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HARVARD UNIVERSITY

Message from the President

I am pleased to submit Hacvard University's financial

results for fiscal year 2018.

My presidency began on July 1, 2018, so my reflections
. are offered with.admiration for my predecessor, Drew

Gilpin Faust, whose many achievements strengthened
the University and set it on a course for continued
success. | am extraordinarily grateful to have taken
the reins of an institution that thrived under her
leadership—an institution driven by enduring
principles and values.

When | addressed the higher education community
at my inauguration on Octaber §, | spoke about some

- of the values that | see as the heart of the University:

truth, excellence, and oppertunity. Through the
relentless pursuit of knowledge and the cultivation

of wisdom, we advance human understanding

in a multitude of fields and disciplines. Through
constant effort to attract the most talented individuals

to ouf campus, we enable the aspirations and

accomplishments of remarkable students; facuity, and
staff. And through a deep commitment to keeping '
the American Dream alive, we {ulfill our obligation
to young women and men who seek to improve their’
lives—and the lives of countless others —through
education. '

For these reasons, the financial report is so much
more than the sum of its quantitative parts. It is the
story of all that we do as a community to enable and
advance our mission. On June 3o, we concluded an
outstanding fundraising campaign. All told, more

than 153,000 households in 173 countries gave

gifts to the University to support our education and
research mission, with some $1.3.billion devoted to
financial aid. Academic programs were established
and expanded across our schools, and 142 endowed
professorships were funded to advance the woik of our
faculty. At the same time, our physical campus was
improved in ways that will drive progress and create
community for many years to come.

Alumni and friends around the world have invested

in Harvard because they have confidence in the
University’s mission. One of the ways in which we
honor that confidence is through the prudent and
thoughtful use of our resources. {t is impossiblé for
any new president to anticipate the exact challenges
he or she will face, but | can say with certainty that
challenges are.on the horizon. Qur ability to respond
and adapt to changing circumstances will enable us to
continue seizing opportunities, and [ very much look

_forward to undertaking that important work with you.

-

All the best,

2en X B

Lawrence S. Bacow
PRESIDENT

October 25, 2018



Financial Overview

" From the Vice President for Finance and the Treasurer

The University's financial performance in 2018 was

solid, with revenue rising to $5.z billion based on

4% growth, an operating surplus of $196 million,

. and endowment returns of 10%. Consequently, the

- net assets of the University, the most fundamental
measure of resources, increased this past year by
£1 billion from $44 billion to $47 billion. This
7% increase in net assets is primarily driven by
endowment returns and gifts, which enable the
University to continue to advance in teaching
and research.

i

These results were achieved through considerable care
in managing resources throughout the University as
evidenced by an increase in operating expenses of
less than 3% during the year. Careful management
of resources is necessary for Harvard, as it is for all
colleges and universities, in the current environment.
In last year's letter, we commented that higher
education has matured as an industry. Revenues
are under pressure as the number of students
has plateaued, tuition costs have reached limits of
affordability, federal research support is uncertain, and
expectations for returns in the investment markets
are muted. For these and other reasons, Moody's and
Standard & Poors both issued within the last year a-
“Negative Outlook™ for higher education in the U.S.

Harvard is well positioned to manage through this

_period due to a healthy balance sheet, modest recent
operating surpluses, established financial discipline,
and Harvard's primary strength— faculty and
stafT— who creale one of the world’s most exciting
learning and research environments. Nonetheless, the
University is cognizant of economic pressures, and
recognizes its obligation to our students, donors, and
research sponsors to ensure that every dollar under
University stewardship is efficiently and effectively
managed in support of our teaching and research
mission. We thank our faculty and staff for wisely
managing resources over the past year.

With only 22% of revenues coming from net tuition,
Harvard's annual funding is deeply dependent upon
its generous donors with 44% of annual revenues
arising from donations, past and present: endowed
distributions represent 35% of revenues and current-
year gifts represent 9% of revenues. The success of
the Capital Campaign has been broadly reported
elsewhere, but we add our thanks as well'to Harvard's
thoughtful donors. From a financial perspective,
philanthropy is the critical driver of the excellence to
which Harvard aspires in transformative teaching and
ground-breaking research.

The operating surplus of $196 million equaled

3.8% of revenues, a comparable percentage to other
AAA-rated universities. Generating a surplus is
helpful as it will add a small cushion to reserves in
preparation for an inevitable economic downturn, .
particularly in light of the current extended economic
expansion— one of the longest in history. At Harvard,
most reserves are managed locally as every school
and unit within Harvard is accountable for its own
budget results, with local control over resources and
decision-making. Consequently, the $196 millien
surplus is the consolidation of individual school and

. unit results —some with surpluses and others losses.

As one example, the Faculty of Arts & Sciences (FAS),
Harvard's largest individual enterprise, showed a.
surplus of $1.1 million this year, avercoming several
recent years of operating losses thanks to sustained
and careful stewardship.

The passage of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act adds 2 new
series of tax cost burdens to the University. We believe
the provisions applying to higher education are bad
public policy. Our country’s philanthropic history

has helped create leading universities, hospitals, and
social service agencies thal serve our communities in
ways that are the envy of the world. The step of levying
a lederal tax on public good, non-profit charities is
deeply concerning as it reduces the money available
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HARVARD UNIYERIITY

for the underlying missions of these organizations,
and establishes an unsound precedent for other levels
of government. The Act has added several new tax
burdens on the University, the largest of which is a
new lax on endowment income. Although we do not
have final guidance from the U.S. Treasury, we have
estimated that these related provisions will ultimately
cost the University $40-850 million on an annual
basis. This policy will increase the cost of education
and damage the University’s teaching and research
mission. In Harvard’s case, the tax is approximately
25% of this past year's undergraduate financial aid
grant budget. We believe these dollars are betier spent
enabling our educational mission,

Student aid this past year enabled one out of five

undergraduates to receive 100% of their tuition, room
and board paid by the University, as they come from
families with annual incomes of less than $65,000.
Across the studert body, 54% of undergraduates
receive financial aid, and on average their families paid
$12,000 for tuition, room and board. The University
hapes to continue this level of affordable access to a
Harvard education for students.

As mentioned above, the endowment earned 2 10%
return for the year. This is gratifying as it is 2% above
our 8% long-term target return. Sitnilar to recent
years, this result is roughly equal to the average return
of larger college and university endowments. but not
yet our immediate peers. We are very encouraged

by the steps that Narv Narvekar and his Harvard
Management Company colleagues have taken to
reposition the endowment for long lerm success,
knowing that the positive impact of these changes

. will take time to unfold.

With Drew Faust having stepped down as President at
the end of the RAscal year, we would like to thank her
for her farsighted financial stewardship— especially
during times of financial constraint. During President
Faust's tenure, the Corporation Committee on Finance
was established, consistent budgeting practices were
installed across the campus, decision-making has
been guided by new multi-year inancial and capital
planning processes, and clear policies have been
created with respect to University liquidity, operating
reserves, philanthropy for capital, and facilities
renewal spending. Through both her champigning.
of sound Anancial practices and her leadership role

in the success of the Capital Campaign, President
Faust’s legacy of financial-stewardship will benefit the
University for generations to come.

In closing, we want to again thank each and every
donor to the University — past and prescnt— for
understanding that Harvard's excellence in
teaching and research is made possible through
your philanthropy, We also'want to thank Harvard's
faculty and staff for their vital contributions, on a
daily basis, in making Harvard one of the world's
preemineént institutions.

.

Thomas |. Hollister
VICE PRESIDENT FOR FINANCE

Paul J. Finnegan
TREASURER

October 25, 2008



FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The University ended fiscal year 2018 with an
operating surplus of $196 million compared to an
operating surplus of $114 million in fiscal year 2017.
The University’s net assets increased by $2.9 billion
te $47.0 billion at June 3o, 2018, due to investment
returns on the endowment, generous campaign
contributions, and a disciplined focus on expenses.

OPERATING REVENUE

Total operating revenue increased 4% rising to

$5.2 billion. The largest drivers were growth in
executive and continuing education, non-federal
sponsored support revenues, the annual endowment
distribution and current use giving.

In fiscal year 2018, the endowment distribution
increased 2% to $1.8 billion. This growth was mainly
the result of the impact of new gifts, given that the
Corporation-approved distribution rate increase was

FISCAL YEAR 2018 SOURCES OF OPERATING REVENUE

0%. In the aggregate, Harvard's endowment payout

rate {i.e,, the dollars withdrawn annually for operations
as a percentage of the endowment’s prior year-end
market value) was 5.2% compared to the 5.3% payout
rate in fiscal year 2017 and in line with the University's
targeted payout rate range of 5.0-5.5%.

In the final year of the Capital Campaign, record
lotals in current use giving are driven by continued

-generosity of donors, as well as payments from donors

futflling their earlier campaign promises. Gifts for
current use were 3467 million in Ascal year 2018,
while total cash receipts from giving, including gifts
designated as endowment, grew to $1.4 billion (see
Note 15 of the audited financial staternents). The
University is the grateful beneficiary of a renewed
level of giving and generosity that we hope continues
beyond the'campaign years.
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HARVARD UNIYERSITY

In aggregate, revenue from federal and non-federal
sponsored sources increased by 3% to $g914 million
in fiscal year 2018. Federal funding, which accounted
for approximately 68% of total sponsored revenue in
fiscal year 2018, increased 1% to $625 million. The -
University's relationships with foundations and other
non-federal sponsors expanded in fiscal year 2018,
resulling in an 8% increase in non-federal sponsored
revenues to $28¢ million.

Net student revenue increased approximately 6% to
$1.t billion in fiscal year 2018, mainly driven by 12%
growth in revenue from continuing and executive
education programs. The University continues to
experience rising demand for expanded program
offerings across the University, which contributed to
the anticipated growth in continuing and executive

- education. Net undergraduate and graduate tuition

increased 3% with net undergraduate tuition
contributing 2% growth due to the University's
steadfast commitment to undergraduate financial aid.

OPERATING EXPENSES

Total operating expenses increased by 3% to

'$5.0 billion. Compensation expense {i.e., salaries,

wages and benefits), which continues to represent half
the University's total operating expense, increased
2%, exceeding $2.5 billion. Salaries and wage expense
grew 1% and employee benefits costs remained Rat
compared to fiscal year 2017. Non-compensation
expenses increased by 3%, which includes a $15
million or 7% savings in interest expense.

Salaries and wages increased by 1% or $58 million to
$1.9 billion in fiscal year 2018 due to the University's
merit increase programs, as well'as additional faculty
and staff for strategic areas of focus within academic
and research programs.

Employee benefits expense remained fat from fscal
year 2017 at $569 million. Active employee health
expense increased 4% due to higher medical clzims
costs as well as plan enrollments. Defined contribution
pension expense increased for active employees in line
with salaries and wages. These increases were offset

by favorable claims experience and a change in the
discount rate at the end of fiscal year 2017 related to
post-retirement and defined benefit costs.

© FISCAL YEAR 2018 OPERATING EXPENSES

tn miliians of dolloes

Scholarships & other
student awards Si52
Supplies & equipment 5268
taterest 1182

Depreciation $153

Salaries,
i wages, &
Bl employee
beneflls

i 3151

Space &
occupancy S4m

Other eapenses
12 :

Services purchased
{.1})

TOTAL OPEAATING EXPENSES 55,019

BALANCE SHEEY

Investments )

In fiscal year 2018, the return on the endowment was
10% and its value (after the net impact of distributions
from the endowment for operations and the addition
of new gifts to the endowment during the year)
increased from $37.1 billion at the end of fiscal year

"2017 to $39.2 billion at the end of fiscal year 2018.

More information can be found in the Message from
the CEO of Harvard Management Company, found on
page 8 of this report.

The University has a policy of maintaining a cash
reserve floor held outside the General Investment
Account (G1A) of $800 million. The University
continued to hold liquid investments (e.g., cash and
treasuries) outside of the GIA consistent with policy
as of June 30, 2018. These investments are primarily
included in other investments as presented in Note 3.



MARKET VALUE OF THE ENDOWMENT AS OF |U.NE 30, 2018

In miliions of dollors

Other $3.312
Dentzt $ 115
Design S500
Education $6n
Radclille iastitute 3644—'\
Divinity $657
Kennedy School $1,256
Engineerlng & Applied
Sclences Sy

Public Health 51,633

Fatulty of Arts &
| Sciences $16.008

Law $r.982
University /
professarship 3352
Peasidant’s funds

$2.497

Business
$1.20%7 Medical £4,342

TOTAL MARKET VALUE $39,234 . .

Debt

‘Bonds and notes payable decreased modestly from
$5.4 billion at June 30, 2017 10 $5.3 billion at june’
30, 2018, resulting from a scheduled maturity of
Series 2009A and a reduction in outstanding taxable
commercial paper. [n fiscal year 2018, the University's
interest expense decreased by $15 million, a result

of the full-year impact of the October 2016 debt
refinancing. interest expense was $252 million in
fiscal year 2015 and was $188 million in fiscal year
2018 with the majority of the decrease resulling from
the refinancing. The average interest rate on the debt
portfolio was 4% for fiscal year z018.

The University is rated AAA by S&P Global Ratings
(re-afArmed in November zo17) and Aaa by Moody's
Investors Scrvice (re-affirmed in December 2017).
Additional detail regarding the University's debt
portfolio can be found in Note 11 of the audited
financial statements.

Accrued Retirement Obligations

The University's accrued retirement obligations
decreased by $109 million or 10% to $984 millien
at June 30, 2018. The primary driver of the decrease
was an improvernent in postretirement claims

experience and an increase in the discount rate used
to calculate the obligation for both the pension and
postretirement plans.

Capital Expenditures B}

The University invested $go8 million in capital

projects and acquisttions during fiscal year 2018,

compared to $906 million in fiscal year zo17. This

enabled significant progress on several noteworthy
projects, including:

- Ongoing and finalization efforts to transform the
Smith Campus Center, which opened in the Fall
2018, to support the University's goal of creating
.new and programmable common space for the entire
community; :

« Completion of Winthrop House and continued
renovation of Lowell House [or the undergraduate
long:term house renewal initiative;

« Ongoing construction activities for the Allston
Science and Engineering Complex, District Energy
Facility, and related infrastructure work, which
will anchor an innovation area that will lead to the
development of an enterprise research campus,
combining science and engineering innovation with
business expertise; ’

« Multi-year phased renovations to the four-building
Soldiers Field Housing Complex, which will update
and 'rpconﬁgure graduate student-units to meet
current housing requirements;

+ Completion of Harvard Business School’s Klarman
Hall, which can accommodate activilies ranging
from intimate community forums up to large-scale
events lor approximalely 1,000 individuals; and

+ Completion of the Kennedy School's transformative
Pavilions project, which includes expansion, new
buildings and a raised, pedestrian-only courtyard.

This concludes the summary of the key financial
hightights for fiscal year 2018. We encourage you lo
read the audited financial statements and related notes
for more information regarding the financial position
and results of the University.
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| AssethIass o i‘.:'261_‘7-f\“l_-l:bt':a"t'ibns N HMC Return:

ﬁﬂﬁg} HARVARD

MANAGEMENT
COMPANY, INC.

Message from the CEOQ
| OCTOBER 2018

1Dear Méembers of the Harvard Community,

For the most'recent fiscal year ended June 30,2018, the return on the Harvard cndowment was 10.0% and the
value of the endowment was $39.2 biltion. The gain was primirily driven by private equity and public equity
exposures, Thc cndowmcnt also distribured more than $1. 8 billion toward the University’s operating budget:

Performance

Y | VI | D | W | U | S 5

LPublic: Equily . " 319 | 14%
{ Private Equity. - . 16% st 1L 21%
! Hadge Funds il 2% - i : 6%
{ Real Estate 1 13% A ' 9%
[ Natural Resousces I 6% . i 2%
{ Bonds/TIPS - | 8% Il 1%
[ Other Resl Assets & Prvate Debt® ||~ 2% : (% '
{Cash - ] S ] . 0%
[Endowment ' I 100% L " 10%

“This group comprses reskiutl private nvestmants of the formar pubdic internel platform, excluding natural resowrces.
it also includas non- pﬂvma aqQuily invesiments of Lthd former privale equity sBo.

While we are not pleased with this performance, we are mindful that ours is an organization and a porrfoho
in transition. A quick look at our asset group returns makes two issues clear. First, there are certain parts of
the portfolio that need work. We understand this shortcoming extends beyond a single year's performance
and arc hard at work to improve those asset classes for the future, as we are working to improve cvery part
of the portfolio and will always do so. Second, looking beyond the returns of individual asset classcs, assct
allocation —or risk level —was the dominant factor in the overall returns. Tn general, the higher the risk

level, the higher thc rerurn.

Al of this said, as sophisticated investors well know, there are very limited conclusions that we can draw
from a single year of cither manager performance or asset allocation. Indeed, siich superficial focus can lead
to unwise or even dangerous conclusions. Had this past year’s return been significantly higher or lower, it
still would not be reflective of the work we are undertaking, nor change the path we are pursuing. This is
a reality that will apply to the remaining years of our transition as well. As I toid HMC’s Board prior to
accepting this position and have stated in previous letters, the significant changes we are undertaking require
a five-year timeframe to reposition the organization and portfolio for subsequent strong perforimance. At
the close of this past fiscal year, we were 19 months into the execution of the, plan and we remain focused-
on implementing that stracegy. _ .



Review of Progress

High-qualiry people, culture, anid investment processes ‘drive top long-term returns, _|U$l‘ as they did at thc
endowment [ previously led. Short-term returns should never drive long-term strategy.

Accordingly, in addition to our focusing on'the portfolio, significant attention is paid to our people, culture,

and processes. Since I have discussed those atlength in the past, 1 will not belabor them here. Rathér, I will
provide a brief update on what we have done to progress organizationally.

' Internal Platform

L.nrly in Ascal year 2018, we ‘:pun out two H..l'\l:lvt. \"L]llC platforms, supporting both with investment.

© As was well ubhcmcd, we spun-out our large internal real estace platform to Bain Capital. We arc
Hp : P ge { P P
pleased that the former HMC real gstate team is now at Bain and that they continue to manage a sizable
pool of capiral on HMC’s behalf. :

- This past sprmg.wc also spun-out our credit platform, supporting it with investment.

+ “The natural resource team is now rhc sole internal platform ac HMC. This team bas madc great progress
in their multi-year repositioning of the portfolio, selling certain assets and i :mprovmg the management
. of athers.

The Generalist Team :
The IMC Generalist Team was officially formed just prior to the start of fiscal year 2018 and has, therefore,

‘been funcrioning for over a year. While some team members have been trained as generalists, others bring

deep specialist experience. The investment framework and accompanying analytics we are dcvclopmg serve
as our common language.

While it will naturally t'lkc. a few years'for calented specialists to devélop fully as gencralists, our t.'u'ly progress
has exceeded my expectations, Furtheemore, HMC's investment and organizadonal cultures are evolving to
foster the kind of internal discussion and debate needed to support thoughrful investmenr decisions.

Critical Frameworks

* We have developed our fundamental investment framework and completed most of the accompanying
analytics. We continue to evolve and improve them, as we always will, :

* Qur portfolio hquld:w framework was developed over the course oFﬁsml year 2018 and pl'tys a critical

role in our management of the portfol.lo Importantly, we are now engaged.in highly collaborative and’

* deep discussions with Harvard's vice president for hmncc,Tom Hollister, his collc.}gucs, and the FIMC
Board to ensure that we best serve Harvard's needs.

+ Qur risk tframework was completed qver the course of ﬁscal year 2018. As plaaned, ‘it prowdcs an
important guidepost for our portfolio. We will soon engage the HMC board of directors in conversation
to determine Harvasd's risk appetite. Based on past experience, | would expect this to be at least a two-
year €xercise,
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Looking Ahead -

"While my first 19 months at HMC have featured some unkind sua;priscs, there has been one especially

welcome discovery: HMC has an extraordinarily talented, skilled, and ‘dedicated ream on both the
investment and support sides. If T could pick the one asset on which to build an organization, this would
be it. It is therefore our apportunity, our obligation; and well within our capacity to effect this turnaround
and generate long-term success for Harvard. _ b

’

I often hear the opinion that HMC's endowment is too large to generate attractive returns, but as peer
endowments with similar asscrs under muanagement have shown, the size of the endowment is no excuse
for muted rcturns.

As 1 have stated before, we are in the midst of a five-year transition. Developing our investment: team
into gencralists, building the systems to support our investment framework, and repositioning the
portfalio — reducing expasure to certain illiquid assets, while building exposure to others — takes ycars to
complete. We are constantly looking to evolve and improve, but the basic plan has not and will nat change.
Therefore, observers should not expect furure letters 1o recount dramatic changes. '

Our work continues apace to position HMC for long-term success and ensure that Harvird University has
the means to continue its vital rolc as a leader in teaching and research for future gencrations.

Best regards,

N.P.“Narv” Narvekar
Chicf Exccutive Ofhcer
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Report of Independent Auditors

. i i
To the foint Committee on Inspection of the Governing Boards of Harvard University:

s
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Harvard University {the "Universily”), which
comprise the consalidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of changes in
net assets with general operating account detail, changes in net assets of the endowment and of cash flows for the
year then ended.

'S REPORT '

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Stalements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated Ainancial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Auditors' Responsibility -

Our respensibility is 10 express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements baséd on our audits, We n
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, Those T .
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated ' s
financial statements are lree from material misstatement, E
An audit involves performing procedures ta obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 3
consolidated Rnancial statements, The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of H
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or'error. In making E
thase risk assesiments. we consider internal control relevant to the University's preparation and fair presentation of p

the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that sre appropriate in the circumstances.
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes cvaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the

financial position of Harvard University as of June 30, 2018 and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the
“ year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,

Other Matter .

We previgusly audited the consolidated balance sheet.as of june 30, 2017, and the related consolidated statements
of changes in net assets with general operating account detail. changes in net assets of the endowment and of
cash flows for the year then ended {not presented herein), and in our report dated Oclober 26, 2017, we expressed
an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the
accompanying summarized financial information as of june 3o, 2077 and for the year then ended is consistent, in all
material respects, with the audited consolidated financial statements from which it has been derived.

October 25. 2018

greenee et LR y e b e L TR B L A e L e . Tarniran SO PR TP T) .

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, www.pwc.com/us ‘




BALANCE SHEETS

with summorized financial information os of June jo, 2017

. June 30
In thousands of dallars ' , 2018 2017
ASSETS: .
Cash ) ’ $ 144982 $ 139896
Receivables, net (Note 5) 301,258 261,341
Prepayments and delerred charges 130,925 130,700 ¢
Notes receivables, net (Note 6} 321,795 183.06)
Pledges receivables, net (Mote 7} ] 1,837,792 1,948,026
Flxed assels, nel (Note 8) 1,732,172 7,125,898
Interests in mms held by others (Note 3) 402,962 31872161
Securities pledged 1o counterparties, 8t air valve (Notes 3 and 4) 162,790 52551
- tnvestment portfolio, at fair value (Notes 3 and 4) 45,647,599 43,275 926
i TOTAL ASSETS j . $ 56,748,281  § 53 720,063
Ei;‘ g
- LIADILITIES: : .
" Accounts payable $ 359847 3 346322
2 Deferred revenue and other liabllities 1,327,454 930,439
2. Other liabilities associated with the investment ponifolio (Notes . qand 1) N ' 884,501 920,558
s Liabilities due under split laterest agreements (Note 10) 862,413 3407136
< Bonds and nates payable (Notz 11) . $,300,92) 5,431,050
Accrued retirement obligations (Note 12) 983,552 1,092,275
GCovernment lozn advances (Note 6) . ) ’ 65,409 72,564
TOTAL LIABILITIES . 9,784,097 9,633,934 -
NET ASSETS . 45,964,154 " 44,086,079
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 3 56,748,210 $ 53,720,063
. Unrestricled Tcmpof“ﬂ, Perman.:nﬂy ’ June 3o
restricied restricted 2008 2017
NET ASSETS: ; S .
Genersl Operating Account (GOA) (Note g} $ 4592384 $ 2,430,144 $ 53,769 $ ranzer $ 6455723
Endowment (Note g) 6.757.253 24,125,090 3,351,391 19,231,736 37,096,474
Split interest agreements (Mote 10) 54,781 504,370 559,151 533.882
TOTAL NET ASSETS $11,349,637 § 26,660,015 $ 3954532  $ 45964184  § 44,086,079

The occomparnying notes ore an integral port of the consolidoted financiol statements.




STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITH GENERAL OPERATING ACCOUNT DETAIL

with summaerized finonciel informotion for the year anded june 30, 3017
For the year ended

Temporarily  Permanently June 30
in thousands of dollars - Unrestricted Restricted Restricted 2018 2017
OPERATING REVENUE:
Studenl income:
Undergraduate program § 20N $ 12N 5 M2
Graduate and professional degree programs 585,797 585,797 559,474
Board and lodging 190,495 190,495 184,732
Continuing education and executive programs . 453,047 458,047 410,654
Scholarships applied to student income {Note 13) (439,445) - {439,445) {413,870) .
Total student income . 1,122,065 0 "] 1,122,065 1,054124 °
Sponsored suppon (Nole 1) .
Federsl government - disect costs 453,084 . 45].03_4 452,852 -
Federal government — indirect costs ’ 172,223 172,22 165,253 g
Non.federal sponsors - direct costs 25974 3 166,023 251,997 232,448 3
Non-federal sponsors — indlrect costs : : 21,352 15.050 16,932 34,984 E
Total sponscred support 733,163 151,073 - 1] 914,236 885,535 A
Gifts for currenl use {Note 15) 141,324 325222 T 466,546 449,939 2
z
Investment income: i . 3
Endowment returns made available for operations (Note g) 318,607 1,503,038 182,645 - 1,782,417 <!
COA returns made available for operations 1% 31 B 176,230 164,893
Other investment income i - 21,060 4.31) 15,873 18,462 .
Total Investment incame 515,897 150785 0 7,021 748 1,970,772 B "
Other ravenue (Note 16) 638,724 638,724 618,310 B
Net assets released lrom restriction . . 1,918,360 {1,918,360) 0 0 |
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 5119513 95,786 0 5,215,319 4,998,780 E?
i
. . >
QPERATING EXPENSES: - . =
Salaries and wages 1,941,836 1,943,836 1,885,692 2
Employee benefits (Note 12) 569,223 569,223 569,030 @
Services purchased ) 617,210 arLng 591,135 2
Space and occupancy 410,441 - 00,441 AT IY "] B
Depreciation (Note 8) 357,965 . 357,965 343,885
Supplies and equipment 263,200 268,200 - 253,963
Interest {Note 11) ] 132,333 187,803 202,547
Scholarships and other student awards (Note 13} 15241 152,40 147,553
Other expenses (MNoie 17} ) : 511,278 531,778 515,229
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES S,018,957 0 0 5,018,957 4,884,585
NET QPERATING SURPLUS 100,576 95,736 0 196,362 114,195
NON-OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
tncome lrom CGOA Invesiments . 8.751 8715 14,630
GOA realized and change in unrealized appreciation, nel {Note 3) 475,207 475,207 301,751
COA returas made available for operations {176,230) {176,230) {164,893}
Change in pledge balances {Note 7} 28,562 18,562 {136,928)
Changa In interests in trusts held by others | (740) (740) {413)
Gifts for facilities and loan funds (Note 15) ' 108698 $ - 529 109,227 1no,078 -
Change in reticement obligations [(Nowe 12) 143,110 143,110 09.981
Qther changes related to debt redemplion ] (229.357)
Other changes 131 : 187 {970)
Translers between GOA and endowment (Note g) - (84,607) 6,465 {5.065) {83,207) {23.276)
.Transfers between GOA and split interest agreements (Note 10} 12,637 24 12,661 15,204
* Non-operating net asseis released from restrictions 198,865 {203,930} 5,065 . 9 0
TOTAL NON-OPERATING ACTIVITIES 566,967 {48,308} 553 519,212 97,807
GEMNERAL QPERATING ACCOUNT NET CHANGE DURING THE YEAR ' 667,541 47478 553 75574 212,002
Endowment aet change during the year 609,030 1,093,046 415,136 2,137,262 1,430,731
Split interest agreements net change during the year (Nole 10} 943 24,126 25,269 312,016
NET CHANCE DURING THE YEAR 1,276,623 1,141,467 460,015 2,378,105 1,674,749
Net assets, beginning of year 10,071,014 25,518,543 8,494,517 44 086 079 42,411,330
NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR S 11,349,637 8 26,660,015 § B,954,532 3§ 46,964,184 44,086,079
L)
The aecompanying notes ore an integral pont of the consolidoted financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS OF THE ENDOWMENT

with summarized financial informotion for the yeor ended june jo, 7017

¥

For the year ended

. Temporarily  Permanently June 30

In thousands of dollars . Unrestricied Restricied Restricled 2013 2017
Investment return (Note )}

Income from general invesiments 5 8349 § 39426 s 47,175 § 85,465

Realized and change in unsealized appreciationf{depreciation), nel 556,968 2,697,718 . 1,284,706 2,566,526
Tota! investment return 95,317 2737164 0 131240 2,651,997
Endowment ceturns made available for operations ©(318,607)  {1.503,038) {1,821,645)  {1,737.417)
Net lavestment return 276,110 1,234,126 0 1,510,836 864,574
Cifts for endowment (Nole 1§} 41,627 247,357 § 357315 646,299 $50,529
Transfers between endowment and the GOA (Note 9) 84,607 {6.465) 5,065 33,207 23,276
Capitalizatlon of split interest agreements {Note 1o} 5.229 20,478 25,707 19,24
Change In pledge balances (Nots 7) (153,808) 14,499 {139,309} (48.892)
Change in interests in trusts held by others (Note 9) {1,311} 13,878 12,547 41,719
Other changes : (3,155) (27,576} 28,706 (2,025) {29.738)
Net a3sets released from resirictions ) 203,251 {204,436) {4,305} . 0
NET CHANGE DURING THE YEAR 605,030 1,091,046 435,116 2,137,262 1,430,731
Net assets of the endowment, beginning of year 6,143,173 23,032,044 7.916.257 37,096,474 35,665,743
NET ASSETS OF THE ENDOWMENT, end of year $ 6,757,253 $ 24,125,090 $8351,393 $19,2)3736 $ 37096474

The occompanying notes ore on integral port of the consolidated financial statements.



STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
with summﬂriudﬁn;:ncial informotion for the year ended junc 3o, 2017 .
. - For the year ended
' june 30
in thousends of dollars ¢ ' 08 2017 '
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: - : ,
Change In nel assets ' , $ 2,878,105 $ 1,674,749
Adjustments to reconcile change in ne1 assels 10 net cath (used in) operating activities: ’
Depreciation i 357,965 343,835
Amontizalion of premium and discount related to bonds and notes payable (27,265) (55.743)
Realized and change In unrealized (spprecistion)fdepreciation, net (3,829,446) (2,956,361)
Change in fair value of interesl rate exchange agreements (6,463) (14.212)
Change in Interesis In trusis held by others . Con,eo7) {41.326)
Change in liabilities due under split Interest agreements 46,753 58,696 .
Clfis of donated securities : (79131 T (149,964) %
Procecds (rom the sales of gifis of unrestricted sequrities 14,422 47,615 I
GiRts for restricted purposes : (528,138) {570,583) e
Loss on redemption of debt : 50,797 b
Loss on disposal of assels : 8,281 32,274 H
Loss/{gain) on sale of property . 1,644 {3.003) g
Change in accrued retirement obligations (108,723) (151,87 3
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: . L
Receivables.net . - (39,417) e
Prepayments and deferred charges ‘ {224) 20,352
Pledges receivable, net : ' 110,234 186,194
Accounts payable (30,544) 13,193
Deferred revenue and other liabiliiles 197,015 106,195
NET CASH (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES (346,739) {1,417,450)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: R
Loans madé o students, Taculty, and stalf ) . (48,451) {30.122)
Payments received on student, faculty, and stalfloans ' : 47527 46,210
Change in other notes receivable - 2,158 2,040
Proceeds from the sales and maturities of invesimenis . ' ' 15,309,908 70,540,252
Purchase of.investments {14,671,506) (59,712,601)
Change associated with repurchase agreements 700,881 823320
Additions 10 fixed assets . {937,744) {979.16%)
Proceeds from sale of property ‘ -~ . 1,292 3,648
NET CASH PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES : 404,100 10,678,579
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Change in overdrafis Included in accounts payable €356 {9.159)
Change in split interest lability from new contribulions, income and payments 1o annvitants {25,076) {9.162)
Proceeds fram issuance of debr . : 453,767 3,331,926
Debt repayments . : ’ {556,671) {3,072.587)
Proceeds from the sales of gifts of restricled securities ' 164,709 102,349
Gifts reswricted for capital purposes . ’ . 523,138 570,583
Affiliated entity contributions and distributions, net (16,343) {15.411)
Change In repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements {10.115.778)
Change tn gavernment loan advances . {7,155) 2,268
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/{USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 547,725 {9,234,971)
NET CHANGE IN CASH " _ 5,086 26,153
Cash, beglnning of year 135,856 113,738
CASH, end of year ’ $ 144,532 $ 139,896
Supplemenial disclosure of cash flow informalion:
Accounts payable related to fued 3sset additions ‘ s 1098 $ N 463
Cash paid for interest ) ] $ 215,166 $ 200778
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.




‘MGTES 1O FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ¢

1. UNIVERSITY ORGANIZATION

Harvard University (the “University™) is a private, not-for-
profit institution of higher education with approximately
6,699 undergraduate and 13,331 graduate students.
Established in 1636, the University includes the Faculty
of Arts and Sciences, the John A, Paulsen School of
Engineering and Applied Sciences, the Division of
Continuing Education, ten graduate and professional
Schools, the Radcliffe Institute for Advanced Study. a variety
of research museums and institutes, and an extensive
library system o support the teaching and research
activities of the Harvard community. The President and

Fellows of Harvard College (the “Corporation”), a governing
board of the University, has oversight responsibility for all of
the University's financial affairs. The Corporation delegates
substantial authority to the Schools and departments for the
management of their resources and operatians. ’

The University includes Harvard Management Company
(HMC). a wholly owned subsidiary founded in 1974 to
manage Lhe University's investment assets. HMC is
governed by a Board of Direciors that is appojinted by

the Corporation. .

2. SUMM.ARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated finzncial statements

have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting

and include the accounts of the University and affiliated
organizations controlled by the University. Significant inter-
affiliate accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Funds transferred to the University on behalf of specific
beneficiaries (agency t'und‘s} are recorded as assets and
liabilities in the Balance Sheets and are not included in the
Statement of Changes in Nei Assets with General Operating
Account Delail,

The financial statements include certain prior year
summarized comparative information in total, not by net
asset classification. This information is not presented in
sulficient detail to conform to generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), Accordingly, such information should
be read in conjunction with the University's financial
statements for the year ended June 30, 2017, from which

the summarized information is derived. Certain prior

year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current
year presentation. '

Net asset classifications

For the purposes of financial reporting. the University
classifies resources into three net assel categories pursuant
to any donor-imposed restrictions and applicable law.
Accordingly, the net assets of the University are classified
in the accompanying financial statements in the categories
that follow: -

UNRESTRICTED net assels are not subject to donorimposed
restrictions. Funds invested in fixed assets and unrestricted
endowment funds comprise 99% of the University’s
unrestricted net assets as of June 30, 2018. In addition, this

category includes unrestricted gifts and endowment income
balances, University-designated loan funds. and other
unrestricted current funds.

TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED net assets are subject to legal

or donor-imposed stipulations that will be satisfied either
by actions of the University, Lhe passage of time, or both,
These net assets include gifts donated for a particular
purpose, amounts subject to time restrictions such as
funds pledged for future payment, or amounts subject to
legal restrictions such as portions of otherwise unrestricted
capital appreciation and income, which must be reported
as temporarily restricted net assets until appropriated for
spending in accordance with Massachusetts law.

PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED netassets are subject to donor-
imposed stipulations that they be invested lo provide a
perpetual source of income to the University. Generally,

.donors of these assets require the University to maintain

and invest the original contribution in perpetuity, but,
permit the use of some or all investment returns for general
or specific purposes.

Revenues from sources other than contributions are
generally reported as increases in unrestricted net assets.
Expenses are reported as decreases in unrestricted net
assets. Gains and losses on investments are reported as
increases or decreases in unrestricted net assets, unless
their use is restricted by donor stipulations or by law,
Investment returns earned by restricted donor funds are
initially classified as lemporariiy restricted net 2ssets and
then reclassified to unrestricted net assets when expenses
are appropriated or incurred for their intended purpose.
Expirations of lemporary restrictions on net assets are
reported as reclassifications from temporarily restricted to
unrestricted nel assets and appear as ~Nel assets released



from restrictions” and “Non-operating net assets released
from restrictions” in the Staiements of Changes in Nel Assets.

Unconditional pledges are reported as increases in the
appropriate categories of ned assets in accordance with
donor restrictions.

Net operating surplus

Revenues earned, expenses incurred, and returns made
available for operations for the purpose of teaching,
conduzling research, and the other programs and services
of the University are the components of “Net operating
surplus” in the Statement of Changes in Net Assels with
General Operating Account Detail,

Collections

The University's vast array of museums and libraries
contains priceless works of art, historical treasures, literary
works, and artifacts. These collections are protected and
preserved for public exhibilion. education, research, and
the furtherance of.public service. They are neither disposed
of for financial gain nor encumbered in any manner.
Accordingly. such collections are not recorded for financial
statement purposes. ' :
Insurance programs

The University, together witf}/thc Harvard-affiliated
teaching hospitals, has formed a captive insurance
company, Controlled Risk Insurance Company (CRICO}, to
provide limited professional liability, general liability. and
medical malpractice insurance for its sharcholders. The
University selfinsures a portion of its professional liability
and general liability programs and maintains a reserve for
incurred claims, including those related to Harvard Medical
School activities not occurring in the alfiliated teaching
hospitals. CRICO provided malpractice coverage applies
with no deductible for medical professionals practicing
within Harvard's University Health Services department,
the School of Dental Medicine, and the T.H. Chan Schocl
of Public Health. The University also maintains reserves
for the selfinsured portion of claims related to automobile
liability, property damage, and workers, compensation;
these programs are supplemented with commercial excess
insurance above the University's sellinsured limit. In
addirion, the University is self-insured for unemployment,
the primary retiree health plan, and all health and dental
plans for active employees. The University's claims
liabilities are recognized as.incurred, including claims thal
have been incurred but not reported, and are included in
operaling expenses.

Tax-exempt status .
The University is a tax-exempt organization under
Section sor(c){3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Culs and Jobs Act (the
“Act”) was enacted. The Act impacts the University in
several ways, including the addition of excise taxes on
executive compensation and nel investment income, as
well as new rules for calculating unrelated business taxable
income. The overall impact of the Act remains uncertain
until further regulatory guidance is issued. The University
conlinues to evaluale the impact of the Act.

Use of estimates .

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with
U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assurnptions that afTect reported amounts and disclosures.
Acwual results could difTer from those estimates,

New accounting prohouncernents

In January zo16, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board {FASB) issued ASU 20i6-01, Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabililics,
which address certain aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of financial instruments.
This guidance aliows an entity to choose, investment-by-
investment, to report an equity invesiment that neither
has a readily determinable fair value, nor qualifies for
the practical expedient for fair value estimation using
net asset value (NAV), at its cost minus impairment (if
any), plus or minus changes resulting from observable
price changes in orderly lransaclions for the identical

or similar investment of the same issue. Impairment of
such investments must be assessed qualitatively at each
reporting period. Entities must disclose their financial
assets and liabilities by measurement category and form
of asset either on the face of the statement of financial
position or in the accompanying notes. The ASU is effective
for fiscal year 2020 for the University. The provision to
eliminiate the requirement to disclose the fair value of
financial irpsirumcnls measured at cost (such as the fair

‘value of debt) has been early adopted by the University for

fiscal year 2016. The University is currently evaluating the
impact of the remaining new guidance on the consolidated
financial statements.

[n August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 201614, Presentalion
of Financial Statemenits for Not-for-Profit Entities. which
makes targeted changes to the not-for-profit financial
reporting model. Under the new ASU, net asset reporting
will be streamlined and clarified. The ASU is effective

for hscal year 2019 for the University. The Universily

is evaluating the impact of the new guidance on the
consolidated financial statements.
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In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers at the conclusion of a jeint effort
with the International Accounting Standards Board to create
common revenue recognition guidance for U.S. GAAP
and international accounting standards. This framework
ensures that entities appropriately reflect the consideration
to which they expect ta be entitled in exchange for goods
and services, by allocating transaction price to identified
performance obligations, and recognizing that revenue

as performance obligations are satished. Qualitative and
quantitative disclosures will be required to enable users

of financial statlements to understand the nature, amount,
timing. and uncertainty of revenué and cash flows arising
from contracts with customers, The ASU is effective

for fiscal year 2019 for the University. The Universily is
evaluating the impact this will have on the consolidated
financial statements.

. [n February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Lenses,
which, requires a lessee to recognize a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability, initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments, in its balance sheet. The guidance
also expands the required quantitative and qualitative
disclosures surrounding leases. The ASU is effective
for fisca) year 2020 for the University. The University
is evaluating the impact of the new guidance on the
consolidated financizl statements.

3. INVESTMENTS

[n March 2017, the FASB issued final guidance on

ASU 2017-07, Compensalion — Retiremenl Benefits

{Topic 715): Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic
Pension Cosi and Net Periodic Postretirement Bencefit Cost,
Presently, net benefil cost is reported as an employee cost
within operating income {or capitalized into assets where
appropriate). The amendment requires the bifurcation

of net benefit cost. The service cost component will be
presented with other employee costs in operating income
{or capitalized in assets). The other components will be
reported separately outside of operations, and will not be
eligible lor capitalization. The ASU is efTective for fiscal
year 2020 for the University, The University is evaluating
the impact of the new guidance on the consolidated
financial statements.

In Jurie 2018, the FASB issued ASU 20:i8-08, Clarifying

the Scope and the Accounting Guidance for Contributions
Received and Contributions Made, The new guidance clarifies
the definition of an exchange transaction and the criteria
for evaluation whether contributions are unconditional

or conditional. The ASU is effective for fiscal year zo19

for the University and any changes will be implemented
simultaneously with adoption of the new revenue standard.
The University is evaluating the impact of the new guidance
on the consolidated financial statements.

s

Investmenis are presented at fair valuc in accordance with
GAAP and under the guidelines prescribed by the HMC
investment valuation policy, which is reviewed and approved
by the HMC Board of Directors on an annual basis.

The majority of the University's investments are managed
by IMC in the G1A, a pooled fund that consists primarily
of endowment assets. Certain other investments are
managed separately from the GIA. These other investments
consist primarily of cash, short-term investments, and fixed

income securities (principally US government securities)
held for the University's working capital and liquidity needs:
publicly-traded securities associated with split interest
agreements; and public and private investments donated o
the University.

The University's investment holdings as of June 10,
2018 and 2017 are summarized in the following table {in
thousands of dollars): :

108 2017

Investment portfolio, at fair value:
Pooled gencral investment account assets $ 44,113,615 $4,73895
Other investmentis ) 1,531,584 1.537.0M1
Securities pledged to counterparties 162,750 57,551
INVESTMENT ASSETS 45,210,389 43,333,477
Pooled general investment account liabilties 869,020 898,614
Interesi rate exchange agreement 15,48) 21,944
INVYESTMENT LIABILITIES 834,50 920,558
TOTAL INVESTMENTS, NET 3 44925888 § 42412519




As of June 30. 2018 and 2017.-University's net investments were comprised of the following components (in thousands

of dollars):
1013 2017
POOLED GENERAL INVESTMENT ACCOUNT
" Endowment® $ 17,711,388 3 15,399,301
Genenl operating account 4,154,494 4,066,438
Split interest agreements 820,725 139972
Other internally designated funds 700,777 641,391

TOTAL POOLED GENERAL INVESTMENT ACCOUNT NET ASSETS

$ 43,407,385  $40,897,852

OTHER INVESTMENTS QUTSIDE THE GENERAL INVESTMENT ACCOUNT

General operating and other investments?® -~
Splitinterest agreements

917,664 930,41
600,839 384,646

TOTAL OTHER INVESTMENTS OUTSIDE THE CENERAL INVESTMENT ACCOUNT

$ 1,518,503 5 1,515,067

TOTAL INVESTMENTS, NET

$ 44925888 5 42,412,919

¥ Includss only the portion of the endowment invested in the GIA and excludes pledges, interesss in trusts held by others, oshsr non-GIA investments, and GIA
intesest and dividends net of off internal ond external monagement fees ond expenses.
* Consists primarily of repurchose agreements and US government securities of $679.623 and $630,488 o3 of fune jo, 2018 and 2037, respectively.

Investment return

+

A summary of the University's total return on investments for fisca) years 2018 and 2017 is prcscmcd below (in thousands

of dollars):

2018 2017

Return on pooled general investment account:
Realized and change In unrealized appreciation, net

$ 3,832,460 $ 2923828

Net investment income 55,199 93,912
Total return on pooled general invesiment account’ 3,888,659 3,012,240
Return an other investments:

Realized and change in unrealized (depreciation)/appreciation, net {4,014) 32,533

Net invesiment income - 38,585 32,944
Total return on olher investrments 45N 65,477
Realized and change In unrcalized apprecistion oninterest rate exchange agreement, net 4,070 11,234

TOTAL RETURN ON INVESTMENTS

$ 3,927,240 $ 1,099,451

¥ Net of oll incernol and external manogement fees and expenses.

Fair value hierarchy

The University's investments have been categorized based
upon the {air value hierarchy in accordance with ASC 820,
which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value of investment assets and liabilities into
three levels:

Lever 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that
are accessible at the measurement date for identical,
unrestricted assets or liabilities;

teves 2 Quoted prices in markets that are not considered to
be active or financial instruments for which all significant
inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly;

Lever 3 Prices or valuations that require inputs

that are significant to the fair value measurement,
unobservable andfor require the University to develop its
own assumptions. '

Investments measured at net asset value (as reported by
external managers) as a practical expedient for the fair value
are excluded from the fair value hierarchy.

The level of an asset or liability within the fair value
hicrarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that

is significant to the fair value measurement. Transfers
between levels are recognized atthe beginning of the year,
The University endeavors to utilize all relevant and available
information in measuring fair value.
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The following is a summary of the levels within the fair value hierarchy for those investment assets and liabilities subject to
fair value measurement as of June 30,2018 and 2017 (in thousands of dollars):

2018 201}
NAV 8¢
., Practical

Level ) Level2 Level 7 ) Expedient’ Tota! Total
ASSETS: .
Cash and short-term investments $ 1,407.34) $ 1,407,841 $ Jan154
Repurchase agreements $ 1,149,363 1,149,363 1,550,245
Domestic equity 490,134 - § 4500153 4,990,487 4,674,449
Foreign equity 357,40 1,544,169 2,401,770 1,852,165

© Global equity 2,008,253 1,008,25) 1,239,346

Oomestic fixed income 1,505,967 1,505,967 2,067,679
Foreign fxed income 25.141 15,141 8378
Emerging market equity and debi 419,100 2,142,935 2,562,035 1,310,664
High yield 12,108 $ 119,249 11,354 875,295 .
Hedge funds $1.520 12,814,216 . 1,895,716 7,964,081
Private equity 90,323 8,365,851 3,460,179 7,625,238
Natural resources V1,569 2,183.270 59,970 1,154,209 2,869,953
Real estale 230,214 3,774,842 4,005,056 5$392,029
Inflatlon-indexed bonds 847,16} 347,163 - 825,719
Due from brokers 1,184 : 4,640 5824 67,608
Other investments 6315 3,545 1,662 12,000 19,423
INVESTMENT ASSETS SUBJECT TO
FAIR VALUE LEVELING $ 5583206 3 13154092 $ 2710383 $ 35214789 3 44653000 $ 41,788,147
Other investment assets not subject to air value? ) 1,147 339 1,544,336
TOTAL INVESTMENT ASSETS S 45810339 $ 43313 477
Intesests in trusts held by others) 403,968 403 968 197,161
NON.INVESTMENT ASSETS SUBJECT
TO FAIR VALUE LEVELING 3 408968 $ 403963 3 3571861
TOTAL ASSETS $ 45.119_!;57 3 4!,7]0l635
LIABILITIES: -
Due to brokers#* 3 6727 % 103,659 $ N538 $ 14,847
Qiher liabilities subject to fair value $ 223,601 223,601 177,993
INVESTMENT LIABILITIES SUB]éCT
TO FAIR VALUE LEVELING s 6,127 $ 103,659 $ 22,60 $ 13893 $ 212840
Other investment liabilities not subject 10
{air vatue! 545514 JO7.718
TOTAL INVESTMENT LIABILITIES 3 450 $ 920,558
Liabilities due under split interest agreements!? 362,413 362,413 340,736
NON-INVESTMENT LIABILITIES SUBJECT .
TO FAIR VALUE LEVELING 3 524N $  36241) 3 340,736
TOTAL LIABILITIES 3 1.7_4&,914 3 1,761,294

' Cenain prior yeor amounts have been reclossified 16 conform 1o current year presentation,

* As of june 3o, 2018, other ossets not subject 1o foit value consists pramaily of receivables for tronsactions thas sessled subsequent to the ba

fonce sheet date of

$922,438, before eliminating inter-company belances, and consolidated ossets of $162,922. As of June 3o, 201), other ossets not subject to foir wolue consist
primarily of receivables for transoctions thai sestled subsequent 1o the bolance shect date of $1,390. 858, before climinating inter-company bolonces, ond

consolidated assets of $116.361,

$ Amounts excluded from investments ond included seporately on the University's Balance Sheets,

4 Includes foir volue of an interest rote exchange opreement on the University's debt portfolio of $15 481 and 331,944 as of June 3o, 2018 and 2047, respectively,

3 As of June 30, 2018, other liabilities net subject 10 foir volue include consolidated liabilitics of $200,631. As of June 30, 2017, other liobilitics nol subject 1o
Jeir volus consist primorily of poyebles for the purchose of securities of $102.479. befors eliminoting inter-company balences, and consolidoted liobilities

of 3215050,



The following is a rollforward of Level 3 investments for the year ended [une 30, 2018 and the net June 30, 2017 rollforward

of Level 3 investments (in thousands of dollars):

Net change
" Beginning in unrealized Ending -
balance asof  Netrealized appreciation  Purchases/ Sales/ Translers Transfers out  balance as of
July 1, 2017 gainsf{losses) (depreciation)’ contributions  distributions  Into Level 3 of Level 3 June 30, 2008
INVESTMENT ASSETS:
High yleld $ 425 $ 3726 § 113448 $ 19249
Hedge funds 394N 3 (41667) 36,79 $ (3.083) 81,520
Private equity 220330 (5)7.581) 475312 $9.690 (308.132) : 90,328
Natural resources 2,773,134 - 2,800 (+26,951) © 131,681 (602.394) 2,183,270
Real estate 4,292,544 (383.678) 388284 168,611  [LOVNF) $ {3,208,830) 230,214
Due lrom brokers - 4,640 ' 4,640
QOther investrments 2,559 (897} 1,662

INVESTMENT ASSETS SUBJECT

TO FAIR VALUE LEVELING $ 8048303 § (945127) §

0 § (3,2023830} 8 277038}

T34 S 478430 $ (2435326 8

Irnerests in trusts held by others - 197,161 11,807 403 968
NON-INVESTMENY ASSETS SUBJECT
TO FAIR VALUE LEVELING PR A L] ] 11,807 $ 408968

TOTAL ASSETS 5UBJECT

TO FAIR VALUE LEVELING $ 8445464 § (945,127} §

INYESTMENT LIABILITIES:

785,240 3 478430 S [2,435316) §

0 $ (3,208830) $ 3119851

Other liabilities subject to fair value $ 17799 s (406118 (34990} § 34,6%9 $ 60
TOTAL LIABILITIES SUBJECT : o
TO FAIR VALUE LEVELING $ 177993 § 0 $ [4,061) % (34,9507 $ 84 659 3 0 3 0 3 __m,scn

NET ASSETS SUBJECT TO
FAIR VALUE LEVELING

$ 326747 3 (945!125} S 789300 3 513420 § (2,519,935 § 0 3 .(3,208830) 3 2896230

' Totol chenge in unrealized appreciotionf(depreciotion) relating to Leval 3 investmens assets ond investment liabilities stitl heid by the Univensity o1 June 3o,
3018 is ${183.677) ond is reflected in “Realized ond chonge in unrealized appreciotionf(depreciation), net” in the Statements of Changes in Net Assets.

Net change
.. Beginning in unrealized Endin%'
balance asof | Metrealzed appreclation  Purchasesf Sales/ Transfers  Transfers oul  balance s of

July s, 2016 _gains/flosses)_{depreciation)! contrbutions _ distributions  IntoLevely - of Levely June 3o, 207
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PRIOR YEAR NET ASSETS SUBJECT
TO FAIR VALUE LEVELING

3 7,552,993 $ 259327 $ (1379908} 3 1,447,770 S (2975319) § 3,362,608 0_S 826240

' Totol change in unrealited oppreciationf{depreciotion) refoting to Level 3 investment ossets and investment liobilities still held by the Univessity ot June 3o,
2017 i3 ${1,17,334) ond is reflected in “Reolized and change in unrealized eppreciation/{depreciation), ner” in the Statements of Changes in Nel Assets.

During fiscal year 2018, the University sold a portion of a
direct realestate investment vehicle to a third-party and
engaged an external investment manager 1o manage the .
vehicle. As a result of this transaction, $3.2 billion of direct

real estale investment assets were transferred out of Level 3.

As of June jo. 2018, the fair value of these investments is
measured at NAV as reported by the external manager and
is incliuded in investment assets measured at NAV as the
practical expedient. In fiscal year 2017 certain securities,’
included in private equity, natural resources and real
estate, were valued using a secondary sale price and were
transferred into Level 3. )

Investment strategy and risk

The University utilizes a number of wholly-owned
subsidiary entities to support its investment activisies.
The consolidated Anancial statements include all assets,

liabilities, income, and expenses associated with these
entities and intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated during consolidation. ‘

The University's investment strategy incorporates a
diversified asset allocation approach and maintains, within
defined limits, exposure 1o the movements of the global
equity, fixed income, real estate, commodities, and private
equity markets, Exposure to each asset class is achieved
through investments in individual securities, direct
investments in special purpose vehicles andfor through
vehicles advised by external managers.

The investments within diverse markets involve various

risks such as price, interest rate, market, sovereign,
currency, liquidity, and ciedit risks. Additionally. the
GIA's direct investments in natural resources expase the
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University to 2 unique set of risks such as operational,
environmental and geopolitical risks. Uncertain national
policies and social, political and economic instability
increase the potential for expropriation of assets and
imposition of governmenital restrictions. The University
also considers manager concentration risk. As of June 30,
"2018, 26% of the G1A NAV was made up of five diversified
fund managers. The University anticipates that the value
and compasition of its investments may, from time to time,
fluctuate substantially in response to any or all of the risks
described herein.

Liquidity

Cash and shori-term investmenls are recorded at cost, which
approximates fair value, and include cash in bank accounts,
institutional money market funds, and other temporary
investments held {or working capital purposes with original
maturities of three’'months or less. Cash and short-term
investments do notinclude cash balances held as collateral
by the University. Cash and short-term investment balances
designated for investment purposes are included in the
“Investment portfolio, at lair value™ in the Balance Sheets.
Cash and short-term investmeats classified as Investments
were $1.4 billion and $3.4 billion at June 30, 2018 and

2017, respectively.

The University has various sources of liquidity at its disposal
within its investment pools, including approximately

$2.6 billion in cash and short-term investments {including
repurchase agreements of $1.1 billion) at June 30, 2018 in
the G1A and the GOA. Inaddition, the University estimates
that as of June 30, 2018, it could liquidate additional
unencumbered US governmient securities of $2.1 billion
within one business day (assuming typical settlement
terms) to meet any immediate short-term needs of the
University {unaudited).

Repurchase agreemenis

The University Balance Sheets display both the assets

and corresponding liabilities generated by repurchase
transactions. The University enters into these transactions
under agreements containing master netting arrangements.
The University requires the fair value of the collateral
exchanged under these agreements 1o be equal to or in
excess of the tota} amount of the agreement, including
interest where applicable. At June 30, 2018 and 2017,

the University had gross asset repurchase agreements

of $1.1 billion and $1.¢ billion, respectively, which were
fully collateralized. :

Collateral is exchanged as required by fluctuations in

the [air value of these instruments. 1n the event of a
counterparly defaull, the University generally has the right
to close out all transactions traded under such agreements
and to net amounts owed or due across all transactions

and offset such net payable or receivable with Collateral
posted by one party or the other. The University separately
reports the fair value of assets for which counterparties
have the right to pledge or exchange the collateral they have
received: investment portfolio assets that are unencumbered
are included in.” [nvestment portfolio, at fair value” {n the
Balance Sheets. The University does not oflset repurchase
agreements that are subject to masternetting arrangements
or similar arrangements-on the University's Balance

Sheets. Reler to Nole 4 for information related to offsctting
of derivatives.

Dividend and interest income

Dividend income is recognized net of applicable
withholding taxes on the ex-dividend date. Non-cash
dividends are recorded at the fair value of the securities
received. |nterest income and expenses are recorded net
of applicable withholding taxes on the accrual basis of
accounting. The University amortizes bond premiums and
accretes bond discounts using the effective yield method
and when cash collection is expected.

Traded securities

Instruments listed or traded on a securities exchange are
valued-at the last quoted price on the primary exchange
where the security is traded. Where there is no readily
available closing price on the valuation date, long positions
are valued at the bid price and short positions are valued at
the ask price, Restrictions that are attached to a security are
faclored into the valuation of that security, reflective of the
estimated impact of those restrictions. Investments in non-
exchange traded debt and equity instruments are primarily
valued using inputs provided by independent pricing

. services or by broker/dealers who actively make markets in

these securities.

Over the counter derivatives

Over the counter {OTC) derivative products classified

as due toffrom brokers may include option, swap, credit
default, interest rate, and forward contracts. These types of
instruments are primarily valued using industry standard
models with independent market inputs, or by broker
quotes. Inputs such as prices, spreads, curves, and/or broker
quoteés are evaluated for source reliability and consistency

© with indﬁslry standards. Counterparty marks obtained

and utilized to determine daily collateral requirements
are also used to corroborale input reasonability. The



University considers current market conditions including
interest rate and credit risks in its evaluation of inputs,
pricing methodologies, and models utilized to determine
fair values. ‘

External advisors

Investments managed by external advisors include
investments in private equity, real estate, natural resources,
hedge funds and other externally managed funds. The
majority of these investments are not readily marketable and
are reported at NAV utilizing the most current information
provided by the external advisor, subject to assessments
that the information is representative of fair value and in
consideration of any additional factors deemed pertinent

to the fair value measurement. The University evaluates

its external advisors through a manager due-diligence
program executed by HMC, which includes an analysis of '
an advisor's use of and adherence to {air value principles.

The fair value of the investments in these asset classes has
generally been estimated using the University's capital
account balance for each fund, unless the University has

of fair value. To evaluate the fair value of the University's
externally managed investmeats, the University has
assessed factors including. but not limited to, the external
advisor's adherence to fair value principles in calculating
the capital account balance, the existence of transactions at
NAV at the measurement date, and the existence or absence
of certain restrictions at the measurement dale.

Distribu!ionﬁ,are received through the liguidation of the
underlying assets of the lund over its remaining life.
Investments in externally managed funds generally have
limited redemption options for investors and, subsequent

to final closing, may or may not permit subscriptions by
new or existing investors. These entities may also have the
ability to impose gates, lockups, and other rcsmctlons on an
investor's ability to readily redeem out of their investment
interest in the fund.

The University, as an investor, has commitments to make
periodic contributions in future periods to the investments
managed by external advisors. The amounts of these
expected disbursements as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 are
disclosed below {in thousands of dollars):

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

decmed the NAV to be an inappropriate representation »

. . - E

As of June 30, 2018 As of June 30, 2017 >

Remaining Remaining §

wnfunded Estimated unfunded - Estimated o

Fair value’ commilments remaining fife? Fair value' commitments remaining life? K

Private equity funds .S 6,043,285 § 6475384 4=10 3 5,845,459 $ 4,635,090 4-10 a

Real estate funds ) 3,800,327 - 1,542,136 4-10 1,552,640 i 926,182 . 4-10 I
Qther externally managed funds? 2,421,899 2,868,214 2-8 - 2,352,402 1,924,215 2-3 .

TOTAL $ 13170511 3 10385434 $ 97505017 § ?,485.691

! Represents the fair value of the funded portion of investments with remaining unfunded commitments.
* The estimoted remoining lives of these funds, expressed in years, are forward-looking projections bosed on the Universily's estimates and could very ngmﬁcant?y

depending on the invesiment decisions of external managers, chenges in the Univenity's investment porifolio, end other circumstances.
V Investments in extenally manoged funds primerily include exposures 1o hedge funds ond naturol resources.

Direct investments

Direct investments in real estate, natural resources and
private equity are primarily valued using a combination

of independent appraisals and/or one or more industry
standard valuation approaches (e.g., income approach,
market approach, or cost approach). The income approach
is primarily based on the investment's anticipated {uture
income using one of two principal methods: the discounted
cash Alow method or the capitalization method. Inputs and
estimates developed and wtilized in the income approach
may be subjective and require judgment regarding
significant matters such as estimating the amount and
timing of future cash flows, forward pricing assumptions
and the selection of discount and capitalization rates that
appropriately reflect market and credit risks. The market
approach derives investment value through comparison

to recent and relevant market transactions with similar

investrnent characteristics. The cost approach is urilized
when the cost of the investment is determined to be the
best representation of fair value. This method is typically

- used for newly purchased or undeveloped assets. The HMC

Board of Directors discusses the valuation process and
results with HMC management, and makes determinations
on significant matters impacting valuation that may arise

" from time o time.

The valuation procedures performed on direct investments
are based on industry standard processes for each respective
asset class. The inputs utilized in any valuation model

may be significant and unobservable, and require a certain
degree of judgment. The University examines market data
and collaborates closely with industry experts to attempt to !
arrive at the best estimation of fair value for each respective
asset. The table below presents the ranges of significant
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unobservable inputs used to value the University's Level 3
assets. These ranges represent the significant unobservable

inputs that were used in the valuation of cach type of Level 3

asset. While the inputs described below represent the range

As of June 10, 2018

of inputs utilized as of the measurement date, these inputs
may change over time, which may have a material efféct on
the valuation of these types of investments in the future.

As of june 30, 2017

Level 3 investments Range of
subject to fair value  inputs utilized in i
{in thousands of dollars)? _ valuation modeld  {in thousands of dollars}? _ valuatien model}

Significant unobservable input by asset class!}

Level 3 invesiments Range of
subject to fair value  inputs wiilized in

Natural resources: $ 2183270 $ 2,695.739
\ncome approach discount rate 5.0% ~ 16.0% 5.0% - 20.0%
Price per planted hectsre $1,386 - §158,900 $2,394 - $163,932
Price per gross hectare $118 - $51,559 $448 - 543,560
High yield: 106,481
Income approach discount rate 8.6%
Shadow rating discouni rate 8.4% - 9.9%
Weighted average cost of espital 7% - 10.9%
Coltateral coverage market risk factor 100%
Real estate: 40,669 3,373,294
income approach discount rate 13.0% - 12.5% 5.3%-17.8%
income approach growth rate 31.0%
Discount for Jack of marketability 15.0%
Capitalization rate 2.3% - 8.5%
Recent financing = discount 22.5%
~ Loan o value 12.3% - 83.9.5%
Markeat inlerest rate 2.6% - 8.1%
Private equity: 19,454 46,005
Incorme approach discount rate 6.0% - 3.0% 6.09% - 8.0%
EBITDA multiple 10
Net income multiple 5.0x 7.0x
Comparable transaction price per unit $25 - 530
Hedge funds: i 67,742 . nn;
Book value multiplier 0.8x 0.7x
Other liabitities subject to falr value {158,008) {177.993)
Loan 1 value 8.596 — 44.0% \ 38N - 42.9%
Markel interest rate 2.59% - 15.0% 2.5% - 15.0%
NET AMOUNT $ 2,259,648 $ 6,009,762

' The foir value of investments may be detesmined using multiple voluation techniques.

1 Included within Level 3 investments is $636,602 ond 52,257,709 as of junc 3o, 2048 and 2017, respeciively, which were volued using other inpus including,
but not fimited to, single source broker quotations, third party pricing and prios irensactions.

) The range of inputs encompasses a voriety of investment types within each asset class.

4. DERIVATIVES

The University uses a variety of financial instruments with
ofF-balance sheet risk involving conlractual or optional
commitments for future settlement, which are exchange
traded or executed OTC. Certain instruments are cleared
and settled through central clearing counterparties, while
others are bilateral contracts between two counterparties.
These instruments are used to increase or decrease
exposure 10 a given asset class, with the goal of enhancing
the returns of these asset classes. The market risk of a
particular strategy is influenced by the relationship between
the financial instruments with off-balance sheel risk and
the offsetting positions recorded in the Balance Sheets. The
University manages exposure to market risk through the

use ofindustlry standard analytical tools that measure the
market exposure of each position within a strategy. The
strategies are monitored daily, and positions are frequently
adjusted in response to changes in the financial markets.
in connection with its derivative activities, the University
generally maintains master netting agreements and
collateral agreements with its counterparties. These
agreements provide the University the right, in the event
of defaull by the counterparty (such as bankruptcy ora ]
failure to pay or perform), to net a counterparty’s rights and
obligations under the agreement and to liquidate and offset
collateral against any net amount owed by the counterparty.



The foliowing table presents information about the University's derivatives by primary risk exposure for the years ended

June 30, 2018 and zo17 (in thousands of dollars): -

for the For the
. year ended year ended
\ ) As of june 30, 2018 june 30, 2018 As of June 30, 2017 June 30, 2017
/ ) Gross Gross Gross © Gross
derivative - detivative Net profit} derlvalive derivative Net profiy/
Primary risk exposure assets liabilities {los1)+ assels liabilities - (foss)*
Equity instruments $ 37826 § 12387 §S 351,485 94,460 3 34949 § 514,977
Fixed income instruments’ 1548 4,000 . 21,944 152,210
Commodity instruments (3.251)
Currency Instruments : 12,975 126495 (9194 1,713,930 1,723,578 18.609)
Credit instruments ' . 4,770 y e 4847 56,011
SUBTOTAL i 155,571 265113 % 164,292 1,813,132 1,780,477 § 706,438
Counterparty netting? .
Bilsteral OTC {149,747) (149,747) (1,745.624) (1,745,624)
TOTAL COUNTERPARTY NETTING (149,747) 114,747 1,745,624)  (1,745,524)
NET AMOUNTS INCLUDED
IN THE BALANCE SHEETS) 5814 115,186 57,608 34,347
Coltatesal
Cash collateral receivedfposted 871 . 6,009
Securities colfateral received/posted’ 4032 135,934 114,230 3488
TOTAL COLLATERAL ) ) 4,903 135,934 114,290 40,827
NET AMOUNT 921 {20.543)° 46,687 - (5980}
NET AMOUNT IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASC 2108 § ° 921 $ 4] ] -] 0

-V For the year ended June 30, 2013, botances include o gross dervative linbility of $15 481 ond a net gain of 4,010, reloted to an interest rate exchonge
ogreement on the Univertity's debt portfolia. For the year ended june Jo, 2017, bolonces include o gross derivative liabiliny of $21,944 and o net foss of
$11,214 reloted to on interest rate exchonge agreemen on the Univessity's debi porfolio, These positions ose further discussed in Note 1.

. ¥ GAAP pusmits the netting of derivative assets and linbilities and the related cash colloleral received and poid when o fegolly enforceable masier
netling agreement exists between the Universily and a derivative countesporty. Refer 1o Mote 3 for information reloted to offsetting of certoin other

colloterolized transoctions.

Y Included within the “lavestment portfolio, ot foir value” and “Other liabilities associated with the investment portfolio™ line items of the Balance Sheets,
4 Included within "Reclized ond change in unreolized appreciotion/{depreciotion). nei”™ within the Staternents of Changes in Net Assets.
Y Includes securilies posted 1o meei initiol margin requirements on exchange traded futures, '

§ Excludes ony over-collateralized amounts in accardance with ASC 110,

The following section details the accounting for each
type of derivative contract. as well as the University’s
intended purpose for entering into each type of
derivative instrument.

Options

‘The University purchases and sells put and call options

to take advantage of expected volatility in the price of
underlying instruments. When purchasing an option, the
University pays a premium, which is recorded as an asset
and subsequently marked-to-market to reflect the current
value of the option. When the University sells {writes) an
option, the premium received is recorded as a liability and
subsequently marked-to-market to reflect the current fair
value of the option written. Premiums paid or received from
options that expire unexercised are treated as realized losses
and gains, respectively. When an option is closed before

“

expiration or exercise, the University records a realized
gain or loss equal to the difference between the proceeds
paid/received upon closing and the originat premium
_paid/received.

During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, the University transacted
approximatély 10 and Goo equity and fixed income option
trades with an average transaction size of approximately
664.000 and 78,600 contracts, respectively. During fiscal
year 2018 the University did not entet into currency option
contracts nor commodity option trades. During the Ascal
year 2017 the University transacted approximately 100
currency option contracts with average USD equivalent
notional amounts of approximately $go.4 million per
contract and transacted approximately 7o commodity option
trades, with an average transaction size of approximately
joo0 contracts.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Swap contracts

The Universily enters into swap contracts, which are
contracts between two parties to exchange future cash
flows at periodic intervals based on a notional principal
amount, lo increase or decrease its exposure to changes in
the level of interest rates, underlying asset values andfor
credit risk. Payments are exchanged at specified intervals.
accrued daily commencing with the effective date of the
contract and recorded as realized gains or losses. Gains
or losses ate realized in the event of an early termination
of a swap contract. Risks of loss may include unfavorable
changes in the returns of the underlying instruments or

indexes, adverse Auctuations of interest rates, failure of the |

counterparty to perform under the terms of the agreement.
and lack of liquidity in the market.

Collateral in the form of securities or cash may be posied to
or received from the swap counterparty in accordance with
the terms of the swap contract. Realized gains or losses are

. recorded relating to periodic payments received or made

on swap contracts and with respect to swaps that are closed

.prior to termination date. When the University enters into a

swap transaction, it may make or receive a payment equal to

the value of the swap on the entry date and amortizes such

payments to realized gain or loss over the oulslanding term
of the swap. The terms of the swap contracts ¢an vary, and
they are reporled at fair value based on a valuation model or
a counterparty provided price.

The University generally enters inlo credit default, interest
rate. and total return swap contracts,

CREDIT DEFAULT CONTRACTS The University enters into
credit derivatives to simulate long and short bond exposure

that is either unavailable or considered to be less attractively -

priced in the bond market, or to hedge exposure obtained in
the bond market. The University also uses these derivatives

" to reduce risk where it has exposure to the issuer,orto )

take an active long or short position with respect to the
likelihood of an event of default. The underlying debt
security on which the derivative is structured can be based
on a single issuer, a “basket” of issuers, or an index. The
buyer of a credit default swap is obligated to pay the seller
of the credit protection a periodic stream of payments over
the term of the contract in return for a contingent payment
upon the occurrence of a credit event with respect to the
issuer of the debt security. During fiscal year 2018 the
University did not enter into credit default contracts. During
fiscal year 2017. the University transacted approximately
450 credit default contracts with average notional amounts
of approximately $14.0 million.

INTEREST RATE CONTRACTS The University enlers into
interest rate swaps to hedge certain investment positions
against interest rate fluctuations; to benefit from interest
rate Aluctuations; to obtain better interest rate terms than it
would have been able to get without the swap; or to manage
the interest, cost, and risk associated with its outstanding
andjor future debt. [nterest rate swaps involve the exchange
by the University with another party of its respective
commitments 10 pay or receive interest at specified intervals
based on a notional amount of principal. During fiscal

year 2018, the University did not enter into interest rate
swap nor capffloor-contracts. During fiscal year 2017, the
University transacted approximately 2, 800 interest rate
swap and capffloor contracts with average nononal amounts
of approximatcly $184.3 million.

TOTAL RETURN swaps The University enters into total
return swaps to manage its exposure to market Auctuations
in various asset classes, Total return swaps involve
commitments 1o pay interest in exchange for 2 market
linked return, both based on notional amounts. To the
extent the total return of the security or index underlying
the transaction exceeds or falls short of the offsetting’
interest rate obligation, the University will receive a
payment from or make a payment lo the counterparty.
respectively. During fiscal year 2018, the University
transacted 50 equity swap contracts with average notional
amounts of approximately $30.5 millien, and 39 index
swap contracts with an average notional amounts of
approximately $87.3 million. During fiscal year 2017, the
University transacted approximately 25 commodity swap
contracts with average notional amounts of approximately
$33.9 million; 1,400 equity swap contracts with average
notional amounts of approximately $9.4 million; 200
currency swap contracts with average notional amounts
of approximately $17.8 million; and 100 credit swaps with
average notional amounts of approximately $22.0 million.

.
'

Forward currency contracts
The University enters into forward currency contracts in
connection with settling planned purchases or sales of

_ securities, or 1o hedge the currency exposure associated
‘with some or all of the University’s portfolio securities. A

forward currency contract is an agreement between two
parties to buy and sell a currency at a set priceona future
date. The value of a forward currency contract Auctuates
with changes in forward currency exchange rates. Forward
currency contracts are marked-to-market daily and the
change in fair value is recorded by the University as an
unrealized gain or loss. During fiscal years zo18 and 2017,
the University transacted approximately 626 and 8,200



forward currency contracts with average USD equivalent
notional amounts ofapproxin\'nately $35.7 million and $5.7
million, respectively.

Futures contracts

The University uses futures contracts to manage its
exposure to financial markets. including hedging such
exposures. Upaon entering into a futures contract, the
University is required to deposit an amount of cash or
securities with its prime broker in accordance with the
initial margin requirements of the broker or exchange.
Futures contracts are marked-to-market daily based on
settlement prices established by the board of trade or
exchange on which they are traded, and an appropriate
payable or receivable for the change in fair value is recorded
by the University. Gains and losses are realized when the
contracls expire or are closed. During fiscal years 2018

and zo17, the Universily transacied approximately 134 and .
49.oo'o futures trades with an average transaction size of
approximately 924 and 30 conlracts, respectively.

5. RECEIVABLES

Counterparty credit exposure
Financial instruments with ofl-balance sheet risk involve

counterparty credit exposure. The policy of the University is

to require collateral to the maximum extent possible under
normal trading practices. Collateral, generally in the form
of debt obligations issued by the US Treasury, is exchanged
on a daily basis as required by Auctuations in the market.
[n the event of counterparty defauli, the University has the
right 10 use the collatera) held to ofTset any losses ensuing
from the default event. Specific credit limits are established
for counterparties based on their individual credit ratings.
Credit limits are monitored daily by the University and

are adjusted according lo policy, as necessary. Some of

the financial instruments entered into by the University
contain credit-risk-retated conlingency features that allow
the parties to the agreement to demand immediate payment
for outstanding contracts andfor collateral. if material
credit-risk-related contingency {eaturcs were triggered on
june 30, 2018, no additional collateral would have been due
to counterparties, whereas at June 30, 20t7, $8 million in
additional coltateral would have been due to counterparties
for derivative contracts.

The major components of receivables. net of reserves for
doubtful accounts of $12.9 million and $10.6 million as
of June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, were as follows
(in thousands of dollars):

6. NOTES RECEIVABLE

108 017
Federal sponsored support - § 72048 § 59730
Executive education ' 66,837 46,824
Publicatlons 60,424 52,280
Gift receipts 22,510 11,098
Tuition and fees 20,479 19,932
Non-federal sponsored support 14,030 21,046
Other 44,310 43,91)
TOTAL RECEIVABI.E'S. NET . % 301,258 $ 26184

Notes receivable are recorded initially at face value plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value. Notes receivable, and
related allowance for doubtful accounts, were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

2018 27

Receivable Allowance Net Receivable Allowance Nel

Student Laans: :
Government revalving § 59541 s 1,432 § 58308 %8 N2 b1 |'|.8l 7 3 r089%
Institutlonal 87,206 2,372 84,834 32,027, 2,243 179
Federatly insured n mn 378 375
Total student ioans 147,518 3,805 143,13 160,014 4,065 156,049
Faculty and stafl loans . 230235 179 230,156 212,069 V79 216,890
Other loans 10,989 . 21.06) 1,926 24,832 14,708 10,124
TOTAL § 403242 $ 17047 $ 18,7595 3 402,015 $ 18952 $ 383,063

NOTES'TO FINANMCIAL STATEMENTS
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"TOTAL PLEOGES RECEIVABLE, NET

L}

Government revolving loans are funded principally with
federal advances to the University under the Perkins Loan
Program and certain other programs. These advances
totaled $65.4 million and $72.6 million as of June 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively, and arc classified as liabilities in the
Balance Sheets. The Perkins Loan Program ended during
fiscal year 2018 and as a result the University made the
first of its annual required repayments to the government,
{nterest earned on the revolving and institutional lpan
prograrns is reinvesied to support additional loans. The
repayment and interest rale terms of the institutional leans
vary considerably. '

Faculty and staff noies receivable primarily consists ol
mortgage and educational loans. Mortgages include
shared appreciation loans, loans thal bear interest at the
applicable federal rate and interest-free loans. In addition,
certain mortgages that bear interest at the current market

7. PLEDGES RECEIVABLE

rate or applicable federal rate may be subsidized for an
initial period. The educational loans are primarily zero-
interest loans.

The University assesses the adequacy of the allowance |
for doubtful accounts by evaluating the lpan portfolio,
including such lactors as the differing economic risks
associated with each loan category, the financial condition
of specific borrowers, the economic environment in which
the borrowers operate, the level of delinquent loans, the
value of any collateral, and, where applicable, the existence
of any guarantees or indermnnifications. In addition 1o
these factors, the University reviews the aging of the loans
receivable and the default rate in comparison to prior years. -
The allowance is adjusted based on these reviews. The
University considers the allowance at June 30, 2018 and
2017 to be reasonable and adequate to abserb potential
credit losses inherent in the loan portfolio.

Unconditional promises to donate to the University in the
future are initially recorded at fair value (pledge net of
discount) and subsequently amortized over the expected
payment period, net-of an ailowance for uncollectible
pledges. The University's indicative 1- 10 5-year taxable
unsecured borrowing rate is used to discount pledges
receivable upon receipt. Discounts of $91.8 million and
$75.7 million for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, were calculated using rates ranging from 1.3%
10 3.1%. '

Pledges receivable included in the financial statements as
of June 30, 2018 and 2017 are expected to be realized as
follows {in thousands of dollars):

- 2018 2017

Within one year $ 276074 5 13137

Between one and five years 1,704,294 1,133,505

More than five years 632,340 705,632
Less: discount and allowance for

uncollectible pledges {174,916) {174.487)

$1,837,792  $1,943,026

Pledges receivable Ss of june 30, 2018 and 2017 have
been designated for the following purposes (in thousands
ol dollars):

2018 1017

General Operating Account balances:

Gifts for current use $ 552,268 § 550819

Non-fedesal sponsored awards ' 127,140 99,623
Facilities and loan funds 112,735 222,626
Tolal General Operating Account balances 902,14) 871,063
Endowment - 935,649 1,074,958

TOTAL PLEDGES RECEIVABLE, NET $1,832,792 §1,948,026

Because of uncertainties with regard to realizability
and valuation. bequest intentions and other conditional
promises are only recognized as assets if and when the
specified conditions are met. Non-beques! conditional
pledges totaled $59.5 million and $49.1 millior as of
june 30, 2018 and zo17, respectively.



8. FIXED ASSETS

Fixed assets are reported at cost or, il a gift, at fair value
as of the date of the gift, net of accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

The major categories of fixed assets as of June 3o, 2018 and
2017 are summarized as [ollows (in thousands of dollars):

- Estimated useful life

2008 2017 {in years}

Research facllitles $ 2376412 $ 202795 -
Clzssroom and office facilities 2,046,434 1,331,097 1)
Housing facilities , 2,010,649 1.757.609 ) 35
Other lacilities 427 3%7 414,587 35
Service facilities 751,236 733956 : 3s
Librarles 487,598 481,816 35
Museums and assembly facilities 783,587 783,536 35
Athietic facililles 23,072 19).782 )5
Land 968,922 ’ 967,973 NiA
Construction in progress 1,331,219 1,079,120 NiaA
Equipment 1,289,975 . - 1,288,117 -
SUBTOTAL AT COST 12,707,611 11,815.0]} :

. Less: accumulated depreciation {4,975,439) {4.709,115)
FIXED ASSETS, NET $ 72,1321 $ 7125893

* Estimated ueful lives of components range from 10 ta 45 years.
© Exiimated useful lives of equipment range from 4 10 10 yeans.

Certain University facilities are subject to restrictions as

to use, structural modifcations. and ownership transfer.
Included in the fixed assct balances are restricted facilities
with a net book value of $292.8 million and $26¢.7 million
as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The costs of research facilities are separated into the
shell, roof, finishes. fixed equipment, and services.
These components are separately depreciated.

Equipment includes géneral and scientific equipment,
computers, sofiware, furnilure. and vehicles.

The University has asset retirement obligations of
$174.4 million and $135.0 million, which are included in
“Deflerred revenue and other liabilities” in the Balance
Sheets as of June 30; 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Q. ENDOWMENT AND GENERAL OPERATING ACCOUNT NET ASSETS
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The University’s endowment consists of 13,78 separate
funds eslablished over many years for a wide variety of
purposes. Endowment fund balances, including funds
functioning as endowment, are classified and reported

as unrestricted. temporarily restricied. or permanently
restricted net assels in accordance with donor specifications
and state law. Net unrealized losses on permanently
restricted endowment funds are classified as a reduction
to unrestricted net assets until such time as the fair value
equals or exceeds historic dollar value. Unrestricted net
assels were reduced by $2.6 million and $3.4 million

for such losses in fiscal year 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Although funds functioning as endowment are not subject
to donor restrictions, decisions to spend their principal
require the approval of the Corporation. All but a small
fraction of the endowment is invested in the GIA (Noie 3).

The University is also the beneficiary of certain irrevocable
trusts held and administered by others. The estimated fair
values of trust assets, which include the present values

of expected future cash flows from outside trusts and the
fair value of the underlying asscts of perpetual trusts, are
recognized as assets and increases in net assets when the
required trust documentation is provided to the University.

The fair values of these trusts are provided by the external
trustees and are adjusted annually by the University.
These are included as Level yinvestments in the fair value
hierarchy table in Note 3.

IUNIVERSITY,




e
g
z
-
z
wt
-
e
ipe
VA
0
3
)
z
o
z‘
o
Q.
-
w
-
-t
‘G-
4

N

The endowment consisted of the following as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands of dollars):

2018 2017
Temporarity Permanently -
. Unrestricted restricted restricted Total Total
Endowment funds H {2,648} $ 20,737,189 $ 7,378,054 $ 28112,59% $ 26,615,944
Funds funclioning as endowment 6,759,901 3,048,618 9,808,519 9,041,146
Pledge balances 326,769 603,880 935,649 1,074,958
\nderests in trusts held by others 12,514 164,459 C 376,97 364,426

TOTAL ENDOWMENT

$ 6,757,215

$ 24,125,090 $ 3,351,)9) $ 39,23, 16 $ 37,096,474

The University's endowment distribution policies are
designed to preserve the value of the endowment in real
terms (after inflation) and generate a predictable stream of
available income. Each fall, the Corporation approves the
endowment distribution for the following fiscal year.

The endowment distribution is based in parton
presumptive guidance from a formula that is intended to
provide budgetary stability by smoothing the impact of
annual investment gains and losses. The formula’s inputs
reflect expectations about tong-term returns and inflation
rates. For fiscal year 2018, the endowment distribution
approved by the Corporation (prior to decapitalizations) was
equal to §.2% of the fair value of the endowment invested
in the GIA as of the beginning of the Rscal year. The total
endowment distribution made available for operalions was
$1.8 billion in both fiscal year 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Each year the Corporation also approves certain
decapitalizations from the endowment to support strategic,
mission-critical activities or objectives that are typically

‘one-time or time-limited and therefore, are excluded from

net operaling surplus. These decapitalizations totaled
$46.0 million and $53.5 million in Rscal year z018 and
2017, respectively. These additional decapitalizations, in

* combination with the endowment distribation, resulted in

an apgregate payout tate of 5.3% and §.4% in fiscal year 20!8
and 2017, respectively.

Ceneral operating account

The GOA consists of the general or current funds of the
University as well as the assets and liabilities related to
student and faculty loans and facilities. The GOA accepts,
manages, and pays inlerest on deposits made by University
departments: invests surplus working capital: makes loans;
and arranges external financing for major capital projects.
It is used to manage. control, and execute all University
financial transactions. except for those related to investment
activities conducted by HMC.

The GOA consisted of the lollowing as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands of dollars):

2018 2007

Temporarily Permanenly
Unresiricted restricted restricted Tolal . Tota!
$ 4,592,384 § 2480144 b 98,769 $ 7N297 $ 6,455,72}

General Operating Account

The temporarily restricted net assels consist primarily of unexpended income, gifts, and pledges. The permanently restricted

net assets are loan funds.



10. SPLIT INTEREST AGREEMENTS

Under split interest agreements, donors enler into trust
or other arrangements with the University in which the
University receives benefits that are shared with other

beneficiaries and institutions. Split interest agreement {SIA)

investment assets are invested primarily in the GIA and
publicly-traded securities, a small segment is managed by
an external advisor, 2nd all are recorded in the “[nvestment
portfolio, at fair value™ in the University's Balance Sheels.
Additional disclosures are included in Note 3. The publicly-
traded securities are included as Level 1 and externally
managed investments are included in investments

measured using the practical expedient in the fair value
hierarchy table in Note 3. Associated liabilities are recorded
at the present value of estimated future payments due to
beneficiaries and other institutions. These liabilities are
calculated using the University’s current taxable unsecured
borrowing rate of 3.19% and 2.3% as of june 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively

The changes in split interest agreement net assets for
fiscal years 2018 and 2017 were as follows (in thousands
of dollars): '

2018 21017
Temporarily Permanently ’
restricted restricted Total Total
Investment return:
|lavestment income H 2,695 H 3.670 3 11,365 5 13,230
Change In realized and unreilized appreciation, net 23,947 77,027 100,974 123,926
Yotal investment return 26,642 85,697 112,338 137,206
“Gifts {Nots 15)* " BS54 < 5,642 12,166 15,606
Payments 10 annuitants {15.538) {50.140} (65,728) (64,659)
Transfers 10 endowment (5.229) (20,478} (25,707 (29,243)
Translers between SIA and the GOA (12.637) (24) {12,66Y) {15.204)
Change in liabilities and.other adjustments 1. 31,629 4,860 {15,650)
NET CHANGE DURING THE YEAR 543 24,326 5,269 ) 32,016
Total split interest agreement net assets, beglnning of year 51,338 480,044 533,482 501,866
TOTAL SPLIT INTEREST ACREEMENT NET ASSETS, end of year $ . 54731 $ 5%70 § 559,151 $ 511887

* Shown at net present volue. The vndiscounted value of these gifs wos 329,287 and $42,217 for the yeors ended juns 30, 2018 and 201}, respectively.

Split interest agrccmcn.t nel assets as of June jo, 2018 and 2017 consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):

2018 01y’

Split interest agreement investments {Note j)

Charitable remalnder trusts $ 92576 $  39645)

Charitable lead trusts 125,341 123,196

Charitable gift annuities 250,473 - 230,152 -

Pooled income funds 2,174 124,419
Total split interest agreement investmenty! 1,421,564 1,374,618
Liabilities due under split interest agrecments:

Amounts due to beneficiaries (801,355) (779.885)

Amounts due Lo other institutions (61,058) {60.851)
Total liabllitles due under split interest agreemenis {862,413) (840,736)
TOTAL SPLIT INTEREST ACREEMENT NET ASSETS, end of year 5 55919 § 533882

' For the yeor endied june 30, 2018, $820,725 of SIA investments are held in the pooled gencrol investment acsount and $600,839 of SIA investments are held
in the other investments ouiside the general invesiment account, For the yeor ended fune 3o, 2077, $729.977 of S1A investments ore held in the pooled general
investment account and $584.646 of SIA imvestmeats are held in the other invesiments outside the genesol investment occount. Refer 1o Note 3.
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1. BONDS AND NOTES PAYABLE

Bonds and notes payable as of june 30, 2018 and 2017 were as follows {in thousands of dollars):
]

Fiscal year Yearsto - One-year Outstandlng princlpal
of I3sue finzl maturity’ yleld? 2018} 2009
Tax-exempt bonds and notes payable:
Varlable-rate demand bonds and commercial paper.
Series R - daily 2000-2006 14 0.9% $ 1200 $ 131,200
Series Y — weekly 2000 V7 1.1% 117,905 117,905
Totsl variable-rate bonds and notes payable 1.0% 249,108 249,105
- le:d-_rilc bonds:
2 Series N (par value, $80.000) 1992 2 6.3% 79815 79,714
E Series 2009A (par vatue, $22,645) 2009 4.3% 22,692 45,51}
» Series 2010A (par value, $45,590) 2010 . 3° 4,6% 52104 $2.86)
E Series 20108 [par value, $110,135) o 3 4.7% 15,89 117,938
g Series 20164 (par value, $1,539.720) 2017 2 -1.8% 1,835,000 1912871
'3 Yotal fxed.rate bonds - 4.0%. 2,157,313 2,208,897
.g- Total tax-exempt bonds and notes payable ' 3.7% 1,406,438 2,458,002
" : -
-E Taxsble bonds and notes payable:
E
= Varlable-rate bonds: .
32] Comemercial paper 2012 <l 1.6% 262,798 343,34)
Total variable-rate bonds 1.6% 262,798 343,341
. - - -
Lol .
2 Fized-rate bonds:
> Series 2008A [par value, $243.000) 2008 20 5.6% 242875 242,369
g Series 2008C {par value, 5125.208) ' 2008 5.3% 125,205 125,205
& Series 20080 (par value, $500.000) 009 ri] 6.5% 453,751 . 493,69}
i3 Series 2010C {par value, $300,000) ‘ 2011 . 22 4.9% 293,506 298,439
E Series 20134 (par value, $402,000) 2013 19 T314% 402,000 402,000
b3 Series 20168 (par value, $1,000,000) ) 017 - _ 38 3.3% 905,643 995,521
Totat hxed-rate bonds . 4.4% 2,562,930 2,562,725
Total taxable bonds and notes payable 4.1% 2825778 2,906,066
Other notes payable Various Various Various 37,057 86,773
Unamonized bond issuance costs . {18,152) {19,251)
TOTAL BONDS AND NOTES PAYABLE ) 4.0% $ 5,300,901 $ 5,431,09%

' The weighted average matunty of the portfolio on June 30, 2018 wes 18.2 pears. -
3 Exclusive of inierest rote exchange agreement. Inclusive of this ogreement, the ovesoll portfalio rate was 0.04% higher.
} Bolences include original issuance premiumsfdiscounts.

Interest expense related to bonds and notes payable was Fiscal year Principal payments
$187.5 million and $201.1 million for fiscal zot8 and 2017 019 . . L ::0-1;‘2

. . . 2020 . ' 1%
respcctwfrly. The mlcrc§t expense in the .?talcmcnl of . 20m 88185
Changes in Net Assets with General Operating Account Detail 1021 - 109.619
includes additional components related to capital leases. 1023 54,890
Thereafter 4,190,360

The aggregate amount of scheduled principal payments.
including maturing commercial paper but excluding
unamortized discounts and premiums, underwriter's
discount and unamortized cost of issuance fees are {in
thousands of dollars):

TOTAL PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS 54,971,353




The University is rated Aaa by Moody's Investors Service
and AAA by Standard & Poor's Global Ratings. The
Standard & Poor's rating was re-affirmed in November 2017
and the Moody's Investors Service rating was re-affirmed in
December z2017.

The University has two unsecured, revolving credit lacilities
totaling $1.5 billion, both of which expire in January zo20.

There as no outstanding drawn balance on either of these

credit facilities at [une 30, 2018,

As of June 30, 2018, the University had $249.1 million

of varizble-rate demand bonds outstanding {excluding
commercial paper} with either a daily or weekly interest
rate reset, as noted in the bonds and notes payable table. In
the event that the University receives notice of any optional
tender on its variable.rate demand bonds, or if the bonds

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

become subject to mandatory tender, the purchase price of
the bonds will be paid from the remarketing of such bonds.
However, if the remarketing proceeds are insufficient, the
University will have a general.obligation to purchase the
bonds tendered with cash on hand.

Interest rate exchange agreements
1n fiscal 2018, the University had in place one interest rate
exchange agreement, used to manage the interest cost and
risk associated with a portion of its outstanding debt.

oo

The fair value of the interest rate exchange agreement
was ${15.5) million and ${21.9) million as of June 30. 2018
and 2017, respectively and is recorded in “Qther liabilities

associated with the investment portfolio” on the University's .

Balance Sheets.

The University offers current employees a choice of
health plans, a dental plan, short-term and long-term
disability plans, life insurance, tuition assistance, and

a variety of other benefits such as subsidized passes for
public transportation and for Harvard athletic facilities.

In addition, the University has retirement plans covcrmg
substantially all employees.

The University uses a measurement date of June 30 lorits
pension and p-oslrctlrement health plans.

Pension benefits
Ali eligible faculty members and staff are covered by
retirement programs that include a defined benefit

. component, a defined contribution component, or a
combination of the two,

In accordance with the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act (ERISA) requirements, the University has

established a trust to hold plan assets lor its defined benefit
pension plans. The fair value of the trust’s assets was

$828.1 million and $836.5 million as of June 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively. During fiscal years zo18 and 2017, the
University made cash contributions to the defined benefit
pension plan of $15.5 million and $13.4 millien, respectively.
The University recorded expenses for its defined
contribution plans of $141.5 million and $135.0 million for

_fiscal year 2018 and 2017, respectively. -

. Postretirement health benefits

The University provides postretirement health coverage

" and life insurance to substantially all of its employees. As

of June 30. 2018, the University had internally designated
and invested $692.2 million to fund the postretirement
health benefit accrued liability of $806.7 millien, As of

June 30, 2017, the University had internally designated and .

invested $633.6 million to fund the postretirement health

- benefit accrued liability of $853.0 million.
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The following table sets forth the pension and postretirement plans’ funded status that is reported in the Balance Sheets as of
June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands of dollais): '

,

Pension benefits . Postretitement heahth benefits
. . 2018 2017 ' 2018 2017
Change in projected benehit abligation:
Projecied benefit obligation, beginning of year $1,075,728 $ 1,105,680 $ 851,00} $ 9418158
Service ¢cost 1,233 12,274 34,645 40,155
Imerest cost 42,418 42,056 35,522 37872
Plan participants’ contributions ) . 1377 3,445
Plan change' 9y {5.094)
i Cross benefits paid {44,357 {40.459) (13,588} {24,247)
- Actuarial (gain) floss {80,260} {43.813) (96,085) {140,947
.2; PROJECTED BENEFIT OBLIGATION, end of year? 1,004,962 1,075,728 806,714 351,003
b "
E Change in plan assets:
" Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 336,456 - B03.639
] Actual return on plan asscis 20,302 59.832
\;ﬂ Employer contributions 15,523 13.424
g Gross benefits paid : {44,157} (40.459)
- FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS, end of year 828,124 836,456 . 0 [
Q
w UNFUNDED STATUS) $ [176,838) $ (29,272) 3 (306,714) $ (853,003)
;‘; ' The posirstiremant plon change of $(193) in fiscal year 1018 and ${5,004] in fiscal yeor 2017, reflects plon changes for union employess, effective Jonuory

1,3016, thet increased cost-sharing and the length of senvice needed for the maximum subsidy,

Y Measurement of the University's pension benefit obligation including assumed salary increases (required by GAAP). .

3 These amounts totaling $983.552 as of june 30, 2018 and $1,092.275 a3 of june 3o, 201 are included in ihe “Acerued Retirement Obligotions™ ling in the
Balance Sheets,

The accumulated pension benefit obligation (ABO) is a Net periodic benefit cost

measurernent of the University's pension benefit obligation. Components of net periodic benefit cost recognized
based on past and present compensation levels and does in operating activity and other amounts recognized in
not include assumed salary increases. The ABO was. non-operating aclivity in unrestricted net assets in the
$860.8 million and $908.7 million at June 30, 2018 and Statemenis of Changes in Net Assets with General Operating
2017, respectively. The (unded status disclosed above has Account Delail are summarized as follows for the years
been prepared in accordance with pension accounting rules.  ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands of dotlars):

When measured on an IRS funding basis, which informs
the University's required cash contribution amount, the
plan was overfunded at January 1, 2018.

Pension benefits Postretirement health benefits
1008 2017 2013 2017
Components of net-periodic benehit cost:
Service cost s N s 3 34,648 § 40,155
Interest cost 42,418 42,056 35,522 3nen
Expected return on plan assets [50,426) {49,030)
Amortization of: '
Actwanial loss/(gain) , 10,088 15,710 © (6,564)
Prior service cosif{credil) ] 288 288 {7018 {6,693}
Tolal net periodic benefil cost recognized in operating activily 13,600 0,198 56,487 71,334
Other amoums recognized in non-operating activity in unrestricled net assels:
Current year net actuarial loss/{gain) {50,136) - {54,635) {96,035) (140,947)
Current year net prior service cost {193) (5.094)
Amontization of! . .
Prior service (cost)fcredil . {288) (283} FART 6,693
Actuarial [loss) fgain {10,088) {15.710) 6,564 )
Total other amounts recagnized In non-operating activity' {60,511} {70,633) {82,598) {139,348)
Total recognized in Stotements of Changes in Nt Assats with . .
General Operating Account Detail s (46901) 5 (49.335) $ (26,111) $ (63,014

' These amouints totaling 5143110} in fiscal yeor 2018 and 5(209.981) in fiscol year 2017 include goins end losses end other chonges in the octuarially
determined benefit obligotions arfsing in the current period but thot howe not yel been reflected within net periodic benefit cost/fincome) and ore included in
the “Change in Retirement Qbligations” line in the Statements of Changes in Net Assets with General Operating Account Detail.




Cumulative amounts recognized as non-operating changes in unrestricted net assets are summarized as follows for the

years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands of dollars).

Pension benefils Posiretirement health benchits

2018 . 2017 2008 2017
Net actuarizl less/{galn) $ 97,637 R IRETR: ) $ {2660103) $ {176.612)
Prior service cost/[credit) 1,469 1,756 {33,589) (60,512)
Cumulative amounts recognized in unrestricted net assets $ 99,166 $ 155,677 $ (319,722} 3 (237,124}

The estimated net actuarial loss and prior service cost

for the defined benefit plan that will be amortized from
unrestricted net assets into net periodic beneht {income)/
cost in fiscal year 2019 are $3.3 million and $o.3 million,
respectively. The estimated net actuarial gain and
estimaled prior service credit for the postretirement health
benefit that will be amortized from unrestricied net assets
into net periodic benefit (income)/cost in fiscal year 2019
are [$13.3) million and ($7.1) million, respectively.

Other assumptions and health care cost trend rates used
in determining the year end obligation as well as the

net periodic benefit (income)fcost of the pension and
postretirement health plans are summarized as follows for
fiscal years 2018 and 2017

Pension benehts Postretirement health benefits

1018 107 2008 200}
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation P
a5 of June 30: :
Discount rate . 430% 4.00% ' 4.20% 4.05%
Compensation increase trend: ‘ ) .
Initial sate 1.00% 3.00% ©ON00% 1.00%
Uhimate rate 4.00% 4.00% 400% 4.00%
Year of ultimate 200 02 bLir ) w02
Health care cost trend rate: . :
Initial rate Nia N/A 5.00% 5.50%
Uliimate rate Nfa NfA 4.75% 4.75%
Year of ultimate NJA NiA 2023 202}
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine nel periodic
benehi (Income)fcosi: .
Discount rate 4,00% 3.85% 4.05% 3.90%
Expected long-term ratc of return on plan assets 6.50% 6.50% NjA NfA
Compensation increasé trend: )
Initial rate 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 1.00%
Ultimate rate 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% - 4.00%
Year of ultimate 0m 021 2021 2021
Health care cost trend rate:
Initial rate NfA NiA 5.50% 6.00%
Ulimate rate NfA NiA 4.75% 4.75%
Yeat of uitimale NfA NiA - 2023 2021

As an indicator of sensitivity, a one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rate would affect 2018

as shown in the lollowing table (in thousands of dollazs):

1% point inkrease 1% point decrease

Effect on 2018 posiretirement health benefits service and interest cost
Effect on postretirement health benefits obligation as of June 30, 2018,

3 20,034 s (12.7132)
185,371 ' (122.399)

The expected return on pension plan assets is determined
by utilizing HMC's capital markets model, which takes
into account the expected real return, before inflation, for
each of the pension portfolio’s assel classes, as well as the
correlation of any one asset class to every other asset class.
This model caiculates the real returns and correlations

and derives an expected real return for the entire portfolio,

given the percentage weighling allocated to each asset class.

After calculating the expecled real return, an assessment
is made to accommodate the expected inflation rate for the
forthcoming period. The final expected return on assets is
the aggregate of the expected real return plus the expected
inflation rate. :
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Plan assets

The actual asset allocation of the investment portfolio for the pension plan at June 30, 2018 and 2017, along with target

allocations for June 30, 2019, is as follows:

2019 Target June 10, 2008 june 10, 2017

Asset allocation by category for pension plan:

Equity securities 30-55% 38.8% . 3%
Fixed.income securities 4 30-50 ’ 439 45.3
Real estate - 0-5 00 1.0
Hedge (unds 10-30 109 129
Cash 0-5 1.4 3
"TOTAL OF ASSET ALLOCATION CATEGORIES 100.0% . 100.0%

The University's investment strategy for the pension
portfolio is to manage the asséts across a broad and
diversified range of investment categories, both domestic
and iaternational. The objective is to achieve a risk-adjusted
return that is in line with the long-term obligations that the
University has to the pension plan beneficiaries. During
fiscal year 2018, the University maintained its allocation to
fixed income securities o manage the interest rate volatility
associated with its pension obligations. The University

expects to continue this strategy in future years, The
investment program is also managed to comply with all
ERISA regulations. '

The lollowing is 2 summary of the levels within the fair
value hierarchy for the pension plan assets subject to
fair value measurement as of June 30, 2018 and zo17 (in
thousands of dollars): '

2018 2017
NAV as
) practical

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 expedient Total Tolal
PLAN ASSETS: .
Cash and shortterm investments $ 21,95 $ 21951 3 34,058
Domestic cquity ) ) 24 $ 145965 145,939 128,142
Foreign equity 73,244 13,857 107,100 95,735
Domestic hixed income 99,104 § 259,522 158,626 336,892
Foreign fixed income ; 21,110 21,110 20,200
Emerging market equity and debt” 32,291 11,425 26,474 70,130 71,784
Hedge funds 59,505 89,508 105,391
Due from brokers . 330 . . 310 404
Buy-sell backs 15,962 25,962 o
Privale equity 3994 2,994 25,935
Real estale - 34 14 8,361
PLAN ASSETS SUBJECT TO FAIR YALUE LEVELING $ 226,944 5 318,019 3 o S 304,829 $ 849,292 3 £17,002
Other assets nol subject lo fair value 3.007 9,454
TOTAL PLAN ASSETS § 852,799 3 316,456
PLAN LIABILITIES:
Due to brokers b n - s n
Forward sale commitment 20,022 20,022
PLAN LIABILITIES SUBJECT TO FAIR VALUE LEVELING 5 20,044 $ 20,044
Other liabilities not subject to fair value 4,631
TOTAL PLAN LIABILITIES $ 24675

The foltowing is a roltforward of Level 3 investments for the year ended June 3o, 2018 (in thousands of dollars):

Net change . .
Beginning  Metrealized  inunrealized ) Transfers  Transfors Ending
balance as of gains/  appredation  Purchases/ -Sales/ ino outof  balanceasof

|uly1, 2017 flosses)  (depreciation)  contributions  distributions Level § Levely  Juncio. 2018 .

PLAN ASSETS:

Private equity S 15445 § (17606} 5 12382 § T8 (M0.22% $ 1]
Real estate 8,264 {9,555) 8,755 (7,464) ']
PLAMN ASSETS SUBJECT TO )

FAIR VALUE LEVELING $ 23709 3 (27,061} 8 21337 % 7 3 (17697 § 0 3 [ I 0



The following is a rollforward of Level 3 investinents for the year ended June 30, 2017 (in thousands of dollars):

Net Net change

Beginning realized  inunrealized Transfers  Transfers Ending -
balance as of gains{  appreciation Purchases/ Sales/ into outof  balance asof
July 1, 2006 flosses)  (depreciation)  contributions  distrbutions Level o' Level 3 June o, 2007
PRIGR YEAR NET ASSETS
SUBJECT TO FAIR YALUE .
LEVELING - s 005 442 8 (2311 8 64 5 (9627 $1INT S 0§ 1M

' Privote equity and real estate investments valued viing o secondory sake price were lronsferred into Level ).

Expected future benefit payments
Employer contributions-of $14.9 million are expected for
fiscal year 2019 to fund the pension benefit plan.

The following table summarizes expected benefit payments
and subsidies for pension and other postretirement benefits
for the University {in thousands of dollars): '

Expected benehit payments

Fiscal year Pension Postretlrement health
009 L i b § 2134
1020 . $3.389 23,309
2021 58,323 25,950
20212 60,646 . 28,030
2023 62,673 ’ 30,266
Thereafter

13. STUDENT FINANCIAL AID

136,19) . 138,409

Financial aid granted to students is summarized as follows for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2047 (in thousands

of dollars):

2018 2017

Scholarships and other student awards:
Scholarships applied to student income

$ %445 $ 403870

Scholarships and other student awards paid directly to students 152,42 147,555
Total scholarships and other stvdent swards 591,866 561,425
Student employment 76,131 ‘ . 74,074
Student loans 15,943 21,519
Agency financial aid' 19,564 19,282

TOTAL STUDENT FINANCIAL AID

3 701,506 $ 676,300

' Represents aid from sponsars Jor which the University acts as an agent for the recipient,

14. SPONSORED SUPPORT

Total expenditures funded by US government sponsors
or by institutions that subcontract federally-sponsored
projects to the University were $625.3 million and
$G18.1 million in Ascal year 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The University's principal source of federally-sponsored

funds is the Department of Health and Human Services.

The University also has many non-federal sources of
sponsored awards and grants, including corporations,
foundations, state and local governments, foreign
governments, and research institutes.

Sponsored grants and contracts normally provide for

the recovery of direct and indirect costs. The University
recognizes revenue associated with direct costs as the
related costs are incurred. Recovery of related indirect
costs is generally recorded at fixed or predetermined

rates negotiated with the federal government and other
sponsors. Predetermined federzl indirect cost rates have
been established for the University Area and the Medical
Schoo! {including the School of Dental Medicine) through
fiscal year 2019 and for T.H. Chan School of Public Health
through Ascal year 2023. Funds received for federally-
sponsored activity are subject to audit.
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NOTES-TQ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. GIFTS

Gifts are classified as unrestricted, temporarily restricted,
or permanently restricted net.assets in accordance with
donor specifications.

Additionally gifls are categorized by purpose as “Current
use”, “Non-federal sponsored grants”, “Endowment funds”,

- “Split interest agreements”, or “Facilities and loan funds”,

Gifts received for the year ended June 30. 2018 are summarized as follows (in thousands of doliars):

. 2008
Donor redesignations/ -
Gifts received other changes Total
Current use T8 466,991 S (445) § 466,546
Non.federal sponsored grants 133,30 (2,258) 181,073
Endowment funds' I 646,340 (41} 646,299
Split Interest agreements* 12.166 . 12,166
Loan funds and facilities 109,410 (183) 109,227 -
TOTAL GIFTS $ 1,413,238 5 (2,977 $ 141530
* Gift receipts include non-cash gifis of $10 million for the year ended Jurk 3o, 2018,
? Shown ol net present volue. The undiscounted value of these gifts wos $29,287 for the year ended June 30, 2008
Gifts received for the year ended June 30, 2017 are summarized as follows {in thousands of dollars):
2017
Donor redesignations/ .
Gifts received other changes Total
Current use ' : '$ 450978 3 (1.039) $ 449,939
Non-federal sponsored grants 151,566 {1.677) 151,889
Endowment funds 514,639 35,890 550,529
Splitinterest agreements’ 19.606 19,606
Loan funds and facilities 142,098 (32,0200 110,078
TOTAL CIFTS $ 1,200,287 $ 1,154 $ 1,282,041
' Shown at net present value, The undiscounted value of these gifis wos 842,11 for the year ended june o, 7017,
16. OTHER REVENUE ‘
The major components of other revenue for the years 2018 2017
ended [une 30, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (in thousands Publications and royalties ;
of dollars): from copyrights © s 635t /3 216377
: Rental and parking' 135,529 134,974
Services income 120,309 103,463
Health and clinic fees 81, $3,937
Royalties from the commercialization
of intellectugl propeny’ 54,573 36,289
Sales income 29,665 31,695
Interest income 10,699 10,390
Other student income 5,421 5.463
Other 44,560 45702
TOTAL OTHER REVENUE $ 638,724 3 633310

* The University is the lessor of space and focilities under operoting leases, the
income from which is included in rentol and porking,
* Excludes distributions to external'parties. .



17. OTHER EXPENSES

The major components of other expenses for the years
ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were as follows {in thousands
of dollars):

2018 2017

Subcontract expenses under
sponsored projects S 165,445 $ 167,416
Travel 99,555 96,199
Publishing : 46,223 476N
Advertising 36,113 19,543
Taxes and Fees 35,278 31,445
Poslage 18,073 19',047
Insurance 17,182 16,977
Telephone 14,393 ' 11,942
Other 79,511 92,989
TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES $ 511,778 3 515,219

18. FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION OF OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses are allocated functionally on a
direct basis. Operations and maintenance expenses are
atlocated based on square footage. During the fiscal year
2017, the University adjusted certain functional expense
classifications to better align with industry practicé,

. 19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating expenses by functional classification for the years }

ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (in thousands
of dollars):

2018 1017
lngtruction $ 1,263,491 51,193,349
Research 1,109,831 1,077,541
Instltutional support 911,99) 911,81
Actademic supporn 613,466 614,877
Auziliary services 564,217 557,406
Student services 203,399 - 203,323
Libraries 179,639 178,723
Scholarships and other student awards 152,421 147,555
TOTAL EXPENSES $5,018957 $ 4,334,585

Lease commitments

The University is the lessee of equipment and space under
operating (rental} and capital leases. Rent expense related
to Jeases was $86.0 million and $76.5 million in fiscal year
2018 and 2017, respeclively. '

Future minimum lease payments under these operating
and capital leases (in thousands of dollars):

o Operating . Capital
2019 $ 733 5 1640
2020 . 66,408 11,665
202} 59,236 10,943
2022 ) 54,09} 11,215
2023 50,342 11,276
Thereafter 321,648 183,027

TOTAL FUTURE MINIMUM PAYMENTS $ 630,108 § 224,557

Fixed asset-related commitments

The University has various commitments for capital
projects involving construction and renovation of certain
facilities, real estate acquisitions, and equipment purchases,
for which the outstanding commitments as of June 30, 2018
totaled approximately $621.6 million.

Environmental remediation

The University is subject to laws and regulations concerning
environmental remediation and has established reserves

for potential obligations that management considers to be
probable and for which reasonable estimates can be made.
These estimates may change substantially depending

on new information regarding the nature and extent of
contamination, appropriale remediation technologies,

and regulatory approvals. Costs of future environmental
remediation have been discounted to their net present value.
Management is not aware of any existing conditions that it
believes are likely to have,a material adverse effect on the
University's financial position. changes in net assets, or
cash flows. . '
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Utilities purchase commitments
The University has entered into Power Purchase

Agreements (PPAs) with a series of utilities providers to
purchase natural gas and electricity for various quantities
and time periods. As of June 30, 2018, future obligations
under the PPAs are as follows {in thousands of dollars):

1019 $ 1977
2020 16,595
2021 12,328
2022 £.61
2073 5.579
Therezfter 11,661
TOTAL UTILITY FUTURE PURCHASE OBLICATIONS $ 7151

Ceneral

The University is a defendant in various legal actions
arising from the normal course of its operations. While it is
not possible to predict accurately or determine the eventual
outcomne of such actions, management,believes that the
outcome of these proceedings wili not have a material
adverse effect on the University's inancial position.
changes in net assets. or cash flows.

The Universily has evaluated subsequent events through
Qctober 25, 2018, the date the financial statements

were issued. The University has concluded that no material
events have occurred that are not accounted for in the
accompanying Anancial statements or disclosed in the
accompanying noles.
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About Haﬁ/ard/
Harvard's President &
Leadership

.Harvard’s leadership is responsible for the strategic vision for the University. - |
Lawrence S, Bacow leads Harvard, and is the 29th President of the University.

~The Office of the Provost, led By Provost Alan M. Garber, fosters collaboration
across the University and manages changes in policies and practices that affect
the academic life of the university as a whole. The Schools are led by officers and
deans, who are responsible for Harvard's academic programs and cutricula.

Governance
By charter, Harvard has two governing boards—the President and Fellows of
Harvard Collegé (also known as the Corporation) and the Board of Overseers. .
The basic architecture of the two-board system is defined by the University’s -
“charter, which is reflected in a series of documents dating to the mid-
seventeenth century. Through their complementary efforts, the two boards
perform the essential roles ordinarily associated with a board of trustees, while
helping to shape the University’s agenda, incjuiring into the quality and progress
of its activities, and assuring that Harvard remains true to its mission.
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Chartered in 1650, the Corporation exercises. fiduciary responsibility with regard
to the University’s academic, financial, and physical resources and overall well-

. being. It consists of fhe President, the Treasurer, and other members known as
Fellows. The Corporation is in the process of expanding from seven to thirteen

" members and elaborating its committee structure, in light of reforms adopted by
the governing boards in December 2010. The Corporation engages with both
questions of long-range stratégy, policy, and planning as well as transactional
matters of unusual consequence. It serves as a confidential sounding board for
the President on matters of importance; meets with deans, vice presidents, and
others from time to time to discuss a wide array of programs and plans; and is
responsible for approving the University’s budgets, major capital projects,
endowment spending, tuition charges, and other_ matters.

Th:e Board of Qverseers is the larger of the two boards, comprising thirty elected
members as well as the President and the Treasurer of the U-niversity, who serve
ex officio. Members are elected by Harvard degree holders other than
Cotporation members and University officers. Typically, five new Overseers are
elected each year to staggered six- year terms, from a slate of eight or more
nominees, Drawmg on the wide- rangmg experience and expertise of its
_members, the Board exerts broad influence over the University’s strategic
directions, provides counsel to the University leadership on priorities and p]ans
and has the power of consent to certain actions of the Corporation. The Board’s
v, chief functions include superintendence of the visitation process, the principal
mechanism for periodic external review of the quality and direction of the
Universify’s schools, departments, and selected other programs and activities.
The.Board carries out this respénsibility largely through the opefation of more
than fifty visiting committees, whose work is overseen by and reported to the
Board. '
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President and Fellows (Harvard
Corporation)

The oldest corporation in the Western Hemisphere is the Harvard Corporation, known formally

v

‘as the President and Fellows of Harvard College. It is the smaller of Harvard's two governing
boards; the other is the Board of Overseers. Following are the members of the Harvard

" Corporation.

Lawrence S. Bacow, President
SB 72, MIT
" JD 76, MPP 76, PhD 78, Harvard

Lawrence S. Bacow took office as Harvard's 29th president on July 1, 201 8. For more, pleasc visit Qffice

of the President.

James W. Breyer

Fellow (began service in 2013)
| BS '83, Stanford

MBA 87, Harvard 7

More: Breyer elecied to Marvard Corporation

Kenneth 1. Chenault
Fellow (began service in 20!4).
BA 73, Bowdoin

_JD °76, Harvard

More: Chenault and Mills to join Harvard Corporation

Paul J. Finnegan

Fellow (2012-2014)
Treasﬁn;er (began service in 2014)
. AB 75, MBA ’82, Harvard

. More: Finnegan elected to Corporation




~ Susan L. Graham

Fellow (bega'n service in 2011)

AB '64, Harvard .

MS '66, PhD *71, Stanford

More: Three to Jgin Harvard Corporation

William F. Lee

Fellow (began service.in 2010}

Senior Fellow (began service in 2014)

AB '72, Harvard

MBA "}6, JD ‘76,.Corpe|l

More: Corporation transitions planned for 2014

Biddy Martin

ﬁello\v (began service in 2018)

BA 73, College c;f"&_"irlllinm and Mary

MA *74. Middlebury College

PhD ’85. U. of Wisconsin, Madison

‘More: Harvard Corporation elects hwo new members

Jessica Tuchman Mathews
Fellow {began service in 2013)

AB ‘67, Radcliffe

PhD *73, Caltech

More: Mathews Wells clccted.

Karen Gordon Mills
- Fellow (began service in 2014)
AB'75, MBA 'T7, Harvard

More: Chenault and Mills te join Harvard Corporation




Penny Pritzker

Fellow (began service in 2018)
_AB 8!, Harvard
'JD '85, MBA 85, Stanford

More: Harvard Corporntion elects two new members .

David M. Rubenstein h

Fellow (began service in 201 ?)

BA '70, Duke
JD 73, Chicago

More: New member of Harvard oration - . . . N

'Shirley M. Tilghman
Fellow (began service in 2016)
BSc '68, Queen’s U.

PhD 75, Temple U.
LLD (honi.) "04, Harvard

More: Tilghman named to Harvard Corporation

Theodore V. Well’s, Jr.
Fellow (began service in 2013)
BA 72, Holy Cross

D ‘;16, MBA ‘76, Harvnr&
More: Mathews Wells elected

ht!ps:l/www.har\;'a rd.edu/about-harvard/harvards-.leadership/president-and-féllows-harvard-
gorporation -
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Board of Overseers

Members of the Board of Overseers are elected by Harvard degree holders
Following are the board’s current merbers, with thelr terms of.service shown in
parentheses: ‘ ‘

Geraldine Acuiia- Sunshme (2018 -2024)
Boston MA .
President, Sunshme Care Foundatlon for Neurologxcal Care and Research

Michael Brown (2014-2020)
Boston, MA '
CEO and Co-Founder, City Year -

P. Lindsay Chase-Lansdale (2016-2022)

Evanston, IL .

Frances Willard Professor of Human Development and Social Policy and
Associate Provost for Faculty, Northwestern University

Alice Hm Chen (2019-2025)-

San Francisco, CA

Chief Medical Officer, San Francisco Health Network Professor of Medicine,
University of California; San Francisco '



Board of Qverseers | Harvard University ’ Page 2 of 8

R. Martin Chévez (2015-2021)

NewYork, NY | |

Vice Chairman and Global Co-Head of the Securities Division, The Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc. ' '

Paul L. Choi (2017-2023)
Chicago, IL
Partner, Sidley Austin LLP

Philip Hart Cullom ‘(2018-2021.) \
Gaithersburg, MD
Vice Admiral (retired), U.S.'Navy

Darienne B. Driver (2017-2023)
Milwaukee, WI -
President and CEQ, United Way for Southeastern Michigan -

_ Fema_mdé R. V. Duffly (2015-2021)
Cambridge, MA :
Former Associate Justice, Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court - -

-~

Janet Echelman (2019-2023)
Brookline, MA
Visual Artist

Helena Buonanno Foulkes (2016-2022) .
New York, NY |

Chief Executive Officer, Hudson’s Bay Company"

Brian Greene (2015-2021)
New York, NY
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Profes\sor of Phy_sics, Professor of Mathematics, and-Director, Center for
Theoretical Physics, Columbia University :

"Carla Harris (2017-2023)

New York, NY

Vice Chair of Wealth Management, Senior Client Advisor and Managing Director,
Morgan Stanley

'Meredith-“Max” Hodges (2018-2024)
~ Boston, MA
Executive Director, Boston Ballet

Marilyn Holifield (2018-2024)
Miami, FL
Partner, Holland & Knight LLP

Vivian Hunt (2019-2025)
London, England
Managing Partner, McKinsey & Company, United Kingdom

Tyler Jacks (2019-2025)

Cambridge, MA |

Koch Professor of Biology, Massachusetts Institute of Téchnology; and Director,
Koch Institute for Integrative Cancer Résearch |

Ketanji Brown Jackson (26164022)
Washington, DC ‘
Judge, U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia

Beth Y. Karlan (2015-2021)
Los Angeles, CA
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Professor of Obstetrics and Gynecology, David Geffen School of Medicine, and
Director of Cancer Population Genetics, University of California at Los Angeles

John B. King, Jr. (20‘19.-2025),
Washington, DC
CEO, The Education Trust

: Michael.M.' ﬂynton (2012-2020)
New York, NY '
Chairman, Snap Inc.”

, Ale)andro Ramlrez Magarna (2016 2022) ‘
" Mexico City, Mexico : '
CEQ, Cinépolis

Diego A. Rodriguez (2018-2020).
Palo Alto, CA
Executive Vice President, Chlef Product and Design OfflCEI‘ Intuit Inc.

~ Lesley Friedman Rosenthal (2014-2020)
. .New York, NY
Chief Operating Officer and Corporate Secretary, The Iu1lhard School

Yvette Roubideaux (1018-2024)
Washmgton DC
" Director, Pohcy Research Center, National Congress. of Amerlcan Indians

Leslie P. Tolbert (2017-2023)

Tucson, AZ
Regents’ Professor Emerlta Department of Neurosciénce, Unlverswy of Arizona
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Reshma Saujani (20-19~2025)
New York, NY '
Founder and CEO, Glrls Who Code

Kent Walker (2016—2022)
Mountain View, CA
Senior Vice President, Global Affairs, and Chief Legal Officer, Google LLC

John Silvanus Wilson, Jr. (2015 -2021) - on leave
Cambridge, MA
Former President, Morehouse College

Ryan Wise (2019- zozo)
Des Moines, lowa
Director, Iowa D.epartm’ent of Education

- Lawrence S. Bacow
President, Harvard University
Ex officio '

Paul J. Finnegan
Treasurer, Harvard University
Ex officio '

Get the latest Harvard Gazette news delivered to
your Inbox.
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Mission

The mission of Harvard College is to educate the citizens and citizen-leaders for our
society. We do this through our commitment to the transformative power of a liberal arts
and sciences education. '

Beginning in the classroom with exposure to new idéas, new ways of understanding, and
new ways of knowing, students embark on a journey of intellectual transformation.
Through a diverse liviné environment, where students live with people who are studying
different topics, who come from different walks of life and have evolving identities,
intellectual transformation is deepgned and conditions for social transformation are
created. From this we hope that students will begin to fashion their lives by gaining a '
sense of what they want to do with their gifts and talents, assessing their values and
interests, and learning how they can best serve the world.

P

P N R



Mission, Vision, and History | Harvard College o Page 2 of 3

Vision

Harvard College will set the standard for residential liberal arts and sciences education in
the twenty-first century. We are committed to creating and sustaining the conditions that
enable all Harvard College students to experience an unparalleled educational journey
that is intellectually, socially, and persc\)nally transformative.

A Brief History

When you attend Harvard College, you become a-part of the rich, storied history of the
nation’s oldest institutions of higher learning. Founded in 1636, Harvard has undergone
countless changes over the centuries, yet has always maintained its core as a haven for
the world’s most ambitious scholars.
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4 . Harvard was founded in i636 and named
for its first donor, the Reverend

John Harvard.

Read more ¥

Buildings

" -Many of Harvard’s historic buildings,
sev'erzil of which date back to the 18th
‘century, still stand today.

Read more ¢

Diversity and Accessibili‘ty-

The 20th cehtur_y saw substantial efforts
to open Harvard's doors to an increasingly ...
broad range of students.




April 2018
JEFFREY B. LIEBMAN

Address:

John F. Kennedy School of Government

Harvard University*

79 JFK Street

Cambridge, MA 02138

telephone: (617)495-8518

email: jeffrey_liebman@harvard.edu

web: https://sites.hks.harvard.edu/jeffreyliebman/

Current Positions: . _

Malcolm Wiener Professor of Public Policy, Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, 2006-present.
Director, Taubman Center for State and Local Government, 2015-present. '
Director, Rappaport Institute for Greater Boston, 2015-present.

Founder and Director, Harvard Kennedy School Government Performance Lab, 2011-present.
Research Associate, National Bureau of Economic Research, 2005-present,
Co-organizer, NBER Working Group on Social Security.
Associate Director, NBER Retirement Research Center and NBER Disability Research Center, 2011-20135,

Previous Positions:

Acting Deputy Director, Office of Management and Budget, 2010.

Executive Associate Director and Chief Economist, Office of Management and Budget, 2009.

Special Assistant 1o the President for Economic Policy, White House National Economic Council, 1998-1999.
Assistant Professor of Public Policy, Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, 1996-2001.
Associate Professor of Public Policy, Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, 2001-2005.
Professor of Public Policy, Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, 2005-2006.

Faculty Research Fellow, National Bureau of Economic Research, 1996-2005.

Harvard Kennedy School Area Chair for Social Policy, 2005-2007. )

Director, Harvard University Multidisciplinary Program in Inequality and Social Policy, 2005-2007.

Education:
Ph.D., Economics, 1996 . Harvard University
B.A. magna cum laude, distinction in Economics and Political Science, 1989 Yale University

Honors and Fellowships:

Elected to National Academy of Social Insurance, 2002.-

NBER Center for Aging, Demography Research Fellow, 2001-2002.

Alfred P, Sloan Foundation Doctoral Dissertation Fellowship, 1995-1996.

Tinker Foundation Fellowship for research in Mexico, summer 1992,

National Science Foundation Graduate Feltowship, 1991-1994.

Yale University, Ronald Meltzer Economics Award for the outstanding senior essay in major, 1989.

Research Grants:

Bloomberg Philanthropies grant to fund Government Performance Lab work on results-driven contracting, 2015-
2021.

John and Laura Arnold Foundation grants to fund Government Performance Lab 2013-2020.




Rockefeller Foundation grant to expand Social Impact Bond Technical Assistance Lab, 2012-2015.

Dunham Fund grant to expand Social Impact Bond Technical Assistance Lab, 2013-2015.

Smith Richardson Foundation grant for "Building an Evidence Base for Dlsablhly Insurance Reform” (with Jack

Smalligan), 2012-2013.

Rockefeller Foundation grant to establish a "Social Impact Bond Technical Assistance Lab,” 2011-2013.

National Institutes of Health (NIA), "Building Integrated Models of Retirement: Three Approaches,” 2007-2012.

NBER-SSA Retirement Research Center grant for "The Taxation of-Social Security Benefits as an Approach to
Means Testing," 2007-2008.

NBER-SSA Retirement Research Center grant for "The Perception of Social Security Incentives for Labor Supply
and Retirement” (with Erzo Luttmer), 2007-2008. '

NBER-SSA Retirement Research Center grant for "Labor Supply Responses to the Social Security Tax-Benefit
Link" (with Erzo Luttmer), 2006-2007.

NBER-SSA Retirement Research Center grant for "How Should Changes in Population Health Affect Retirement
Ages?" (with David Cutler), 2006-2007.

NBER-SSA Retirement Research Center grant for "Could Social Security Eliminate Poverty Among the Elderly?",
2005-2006.

NBER-SSA Retirement Research Center grant for "Eamnings Responses 10 Raising the Social Security Taxable
Maximum?" (with Emmanuel Sacz), 2004-2005.

NBER-SSA Retirement Research Center grant for "How Fast Should the Social Security Retirement Age Rise?”
(with David Cutler), 2003-2004.

National Institutes of Health (NIA) First Award for "Protecting the Poor While Reforming Social Security,” 1999-
2004..

Russell Sage Foundation Grant for "Reforming Tax and Transfer Programs in Order to Assist Low-skilled
Workers," 1997-2000.

National Institute of Child Health and Human Development grant for "Effects of High-Poverty Neighborhoods on
Youth" (with Lawrence Katz and Jeffrey Kling), 2001-2004.

Russeil Sage Foundation grant for "Effects of High-Poverty Neighborhoods on Youth" (with Lawrence Katz and
Jeffrey Kling), 2000-2006.

Smith Richardson Foundation grant for "Effects of High-Poverty Neighborhoods on Youth" (with Lawrence Katz
and Jeffrey Kling), 2000-2003.

William T. Grant Foundation grant for "Effects of High-Poverty Neighborhoods on Youth" {with Lawrence Katz
and Jeffrey Kiing), 2001-2004.

MacArthur Foundation grant for "Moving to Opportunity and Family Well-being" (with Lawrence Katz, Jeffrey
Kling, Jeanne Brooks-Gunn, and Greg Duncan), 2001-2002.

Robert Wood Johnson Foundation grant for "Moving to Opportunity and Family Well-being” (with Lawrence Katz,
Jeffrey Kling, Jeanne Brooks-Gunn, and Greg Duncan}, 2001-2002.

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development grant for "Expanding Moving to Opportunity Research”
{with Lawrence Katz and Jeffrey Kling), 2000-2006.

US Department of Housing and Urban Development grant, 1995-2000, for "Moving to Opportunity in Boston"
{with Lawrence Katz and Jeffrey Kling).

NBER-NIA Center for Aging and Health Research grant for "Health Qutcomes in MTO" (with Lawrence Katz and
Jeffrey Kling), 1997-1998.

Journal Articles and Book Chapters:

Research on Housing Policy and Neighborhood Effects

1. "Moving to Opportunity in Boston: Early Outcomes of a Housing Mobility Program” (with Lawrence Katz
and Jeffrey Kling), Quarterly Journal of Economics, May 2001.



2. "Boston Site Findings: The Early Impacts of Moving to Opportunity" (with Lawrence Katz and Jeffrey
Kling), in Choosing a Better Life? Evaluating the Moving to Opportunity Social Experiment, edited by
John M. Goering and Judith D. Feins (Washington: Urban Institute Press), 2003.

3. "Bullets Don’t Got No Name: Consequences of Fear in the Ghetto" (with Lawrence Katz and Jeffrey
Kling), in Discovering Successful Pathways in Children’s Development: New Methods in the Study of
Childhood and Family Life, edited by Thomas S. Weisner (Chicago: University of Chicago Press), 2004.

4 "Experimental Analysis of Neighborhood Effects” (with Jeffrey Kling and Lawrence Katz), Econometrica,
January 2007. s
5. "What Can We Learn About Neighborhood Effects from the Moving to Opportunity Experiment?” (with

Jens Ludwig, Jeffrey Kling, Greg Duncan, Larry Katz, Ronald Kessler, and Lisa Sanbonmatsu), American
Journal of Seciology, 114, july 2008,

Research on Executive Compensation

5. "Are CEOs Really Paid Like Bureaucrats?" (with Brian Hall), Quarterly Journal of Economics, August
1998.
6. "Taxation and Executive Compensation” {with Brian Hall}, Tax Policy and the Economy, 14, 2000.

Research on the Earned Income Tax Credit

7. "Labor Supply Response to the Eamed Income Tax Credit" (with Nada Eissa), Quarterly Journal of
Economics, May 1996. Reprinted in Alan Auerbach, editor, Public Finance, Worth Series in Outstanding
Contributions, 2000. - -

8. "The Impact of the Earned Income Tax Credit on Incentives and Income Distribution,” Tax Policy and the

Economy, 12, 1998,
9. "Who are the Ineligible Earned Income Tax Credit Recipients?" National Tax Journal, December 2000.
10. "The Optimal Design of the Earned Income Tax Credit," in Making Work Pay: The Earned Income Tax
Credit and Its Impact on American Families, edited by Bruce D. Meyer and Douglas Holtz-Eakin (New
York: Russell Sage Foundation Press), 2002.

1. "The EITC Abroad: Implications of the British WFTC for Pay-as-you-ecarn Administration of the EITC,"
(with Janet Holtzblatt), Proceedings of the National Tax Associafion, 1999.

12. “Would People Behave Differently If They Better Understood Social Security? Evidence from a Field
Experiment” (with Erzo Luttmer), American Economic Journal: Economic Policy, 1(1), 2015.
Research on Social Security and Social Security Reform

13. “The Perception of Social Security Incentives for Labor Supply and Retirement: The Median Voter Knows

3



More than You’d Think” (with Erzo Luttmer), Tax Policy and the Economy, 26, 2012,

14, “Labor Supply Responses to Marginal Social Security Benefits: Evidence from Discontinuities™ (with Erzo
Luttmer and David Seif), Journal of Public Economtics, 93, December 2009.

15. "Redistribution in the Current U.S. Social Security System," in The Distributional Aspects of Social
Security and Social Security Reform, edited by Martin Feldstein and Jeffrey B. Liebman (Chicago:
University of Chicago Press), 2002.

16, "The Distributional Effects of an Investment-based Social Security System"” (with Martin Feldstein), in The
Distributional Aspects of Social Security and Social Security Reform, edited by Martin Feldstein and
Jeffrey B. Liebman (Chicago: University of Chicago Press), 2002.

17. "Social Security” (with Martin Feldstein), in Handbook of Public Economics, edited by Alan J. Auerbach
and Martin Feldstein (Amsterdam: Elsevier), volume 4, 2002,

i
Research on Tax and Budget Policy

18. “Do Expiring Budgets Lead to Wasteful Year-End Spending? Evidence from Federal Procurement” (with
Neale Mahoney), American Economic Review, 107(11), 2017, |

19. "Social Security and National Saving in an Era of Budget Surpluses” (with Douglas Elmendorf), Brookings
Papers on Economic Activity, 2, 2000.

20. "The Middle Class Parent Penalty: Child Benefits in the U.S. Tax Code" (with Dawvid Ellwood), Tax Policy
and the Economy, 15, 2001,

21, "Fiscal Policy and Social Security Policy During the 1990s" (with Douglas Elmendorf and David Wilcox),
in American Economic Policy in the 1990s, edited by Jeffrey Frankel and Peter Orszag (Cambridge: MIT
Press), 2002. '

22. "Saving Incentives for Low- and Middle-income Families: Evidence from a Field Experiment with H&R
Block (with Esther Duflo, William Gale, Peter Orszag, and Emmanuel Saez), Quarterly Journal of
Economics, November 2006.

23. "Simple Humans, Complex Insurance, Subtle Subsidies” (with Richard Zeckhauser), in Using Taxes to
Reform Health Inswrance: Pitfalls and Promises, ediled by Henry Aaron and Leonard Burman
{Washington, Brookings Institution), 2008.

24. "The Deterioration in the U.S. Fiscal Outlook, 2001-2010," Tax Policy and the Economy, 27,2013.

25. Forthcoming: "The Decline, Rebound, and Further Rise in SNAP Enrollment: Disentangling Business

Cycle Fluctuations and Policy Changes"” (with Peter Ganong), American Economic Journal: Economic
Policy.

Working Papers:

26. “How Fast Should the Soctal Security Eligibility Age Rise?” (with David Culler, Seamus Smyth, and Mark
Shepard).



27. “Eamings Responses to Increases in Payroll Taxes” (with Emmanuel Saez).

28. “Schmeduling” (with Richard Zeckhauser).

Books Edited:

Distributional Aspects of Social Security and Social Security Reform (with Martin Feldstein), (Chicago: University
of Chicago Press), 2002. .

Social Security Policy in & Changing Environment (with David Wise and Jeffrey Brown), (Chicago: University of
Chicago Press), 2009.

" Other Writings:

Social Impact Bonds: A Guide for State and Local Governments (with Alina Sellman), Harvard SIB Lab, June
2013.

Building on Recent Advances in Evidence-Based Policvmaking, Brookings Hamilton Project and America
Achieves, Apnl 2013.

"An Evidence-Based Path to Disability Insurance Reform” (with Jack Smalligan) in /5 Ways to Rethink the Federal
Budget, Brookings Hamilton Project, February 2013.

"Social Impact Bonds: Lessons Learned So Far" (with SIB Lab team) in Community Development Investment
. Review, Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, February 2013,

"The Baby Boom Bump" (with Kenneth Baer}, New York Times, December 6, 2012.

"The End of Health Insurance Companies” (with Ezekiel Emanuel), New York Times Opinionator, January 30,
2012.

"Cut Medicare, Help Patients” (with Ezekiel Emanuel), New York Times, August 22, 2011,

Social Impact Bonds: A Promising New Financing Model to Accelerate Social Innovation and fmprove
Government Performance, Center for American Progress, February 2011,
|

“Social Security Meets Race,” Science, September 23, 2005, p. 1965.

“Reforming Social Security: Not All Privatization Schemes Are Created Equal.” Harvard Magazine, March-April,
2005,

Moving to Opportunity: Interim Impacts Evaluation (with Larry Orr, Judith Feins, Robin Jacob, Erik Beecroft, Lisa
Sanbonmatsu, Jeffrey Kling, and Lawrence Katz), Washington D.C.: U.S, Deparlment of Housmg and Urban
Development, 2003,

The Role of Annuities in a chbr med U.S. Social Security System. December 2002, AARP Public Policy Institute
report 2002-17.



“Is Social Security Unfair to the Poor?” Op-ed, Washington Post, July 29, 2001.
“Personal Accounts and Social Security,” Letter to the Editor, Washington Post, July 9, 2001,

“The Eamed Income Tax Credit.” Testimony provided to the Committee on Finance, United States Senate;
Washington, D.C., March 7, 2001.

“The EITC Compliance Problem,” Poverfy Research News, Summer 1998, Joint Center for Poverty Research.
“Tax Credit Combines Best of Two Systems,” Op-ed, Financial Times, March 17, 1998,
“Blair Could Learn From US Tax Credit Scheme,” Letter to the Editor, Financial Times, June 23, 1997,

Lessons About Tax-benefit Integration from the US Earned Income Tax Credit Experience. Joseph Rowntree
Foundation. York, England, 1997,

Teaching:

Public Economics (PhD field course), Harvard Economics Department. 2006, 2007, 2008, 2011.

Economic Analysis of Public Policy (public finance), Harvard Kennedy School. 1997, 2000, 2001, 2003, 2004,
2005, 2008, 2011, 2012, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018.

Government Turmarounds, Harvard Kennedy School. 2017.

Empirical Methods 11 (regression analysis and program evaluation), Harvard Kennedy School. 1997, 1998.

Tax and Budget Policy, Harvard Kennedy School. 2000. ;

Doctoral Research Seminar, Harvard Kennedy School. 2000, 2001.

American Economic Policy, Harvard Economics Department (undergraduate) and Harvard Kennedy School. 2002,
2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017,

New Members of Congress Program (presentatlons on Social Security and Medicare and economic outlook). 2000

2002, 2012,

Proseminar on Inequality and Social Policy (PhD students), Harvard Department of Sociology and Harvard Kennedy

School. 2005, 2007, 2010.



SCOTT KLEIMAN

EXPERIENCE
HARVARD KENNEDY SCHOOL GOVERNMENT PERFORMANCE LAB (2013- PRESENT) Cambridge, MA
Program Director (201 7-present), Assistant Director (2015-2017), Innovation Fellow (2013-2015)
e Directed |8+ technical assistance performance improvement projects, including:.
o Advising a state redesign and procurement of behavioral health, parenting supports, and child placement programs
for a state child welfare agency.
o Advising a state on implementation and scaling of data-driven provider performance management strategies at
' public health, behavioral health, child welfare, and workforce agencies.
o Advising a state on an interagency partnershlp between a departments of public health and child welfare to reduce
child abuse fatalities.
© Advising a state on a public-private partnership to improve trammom to adulthood for JUSHCC -involved foster
youth, .
e Co-created and delivered outcomes-based management training to 100+ senior government officials.
»  Authored external publications, including flagship performance improvement playbook for leaders of public child welfare
agencies, a Harvard Kennedy School teaching case, and a data analytics curriculum and simulation.
» Served on senior leadership team during growth from a 10-person start-up to an established organization of 40+ staff.
¢ Senior Fellow with Casey Family Programs. Advisory committee member for Results for America’s Invest in What Works
State Standard of Excellence. Regular guest lecturer in HKS course on government turnarounds.

1

BAIN & COMPANY (2012) Atlanta, GA
Summer Associate
* Diagnosed potential cost savings associated with long-term transportation infrastructure needs for major U.S. city.

s

CERES (2007-2011) Boston, MA
Manager, Executive and Org. Advancement (2010-2011}, Exec. Associate/Fellow (2007-2010)

o Led cross-organizational team to craft framework for strategic business plan.

« Facilitated revamp of bylaws, board policies, and govemance practices.

¢ Coordinated CEQ’s office and senior management team.

_ EDUCATION
DUKE UNIVERSITY, FUQUA SCHOOL OF BUSINESS Durham, NC
MBA, May 2013. .
MIDDLEBURY COLLEGE _ Middlebury, VT

BA, Political Science, May 2006.



Jessica Lanney

Experience

2017-19

GOVERNMENT PERFORMANCE LAB, HARVARD KENNEDY SCHOOL Concord, NH ,

Project Leader
¢ Supporting NH DCYF to design and implement strategies to support child welfare system transformation
e Launched GPL’s multi-year work in Chicago helping the city’s human services agency (Dept. of Family & Support
Services) overhaul its approach to procurement and contract management to improve human service outcomes.
Responsibilities included developing near- and long-term strategy, day-to-day project and team management, capacity
and relationship-building

2012-17 THE BRIDGESPAN GROUP ; Boston, MA

Case Team Leader (2016-17)
Managed project teams providing management consulting to large nonprofits and foundations to suppon strategic decision-
making and organizational change. Accountable for analysis, deliverables, workflow processes, and staff development.
Balanced competing priorities and deadlines while collaborating closely with clients and stakeholders.
¢ Developed major capacity building initiative for large nonprofit federation to strengthen local chapters and increase
collaboration among chapters nationally
o Helped lead Bridgespan’s multi-year initiative to improve nonprofit funding approaches and work with large nonprofit
networks
Consultant (20153-16)
s Worked with major foundation’s senior leaders on change managemenlhmplementatlon of new strategy
¢ Created fund strategy and investment framework for impact investing fund
e Co-authored articles on network strategy shifts in Stanford Social Innovation Review, Harvard Business Review
Senior Associate Consultant (2014-15) and Associate Consultant (2012-13)
» Designed and conducted portfolio analysis global foundation to recommend new policies, grantee relationship and
portfolio management approaches
s Redesigned organization structure, cross-team, innovation processes for large affordable housing organization
.» Developed turnaround plan for rural human services provider struggling with sustainability to improve fundraising,
efficiency, and HQ services to local sites
» Identified key levers to expand service reach at minimal cost for home visitation program

2009 BOSTON HEALTH CARE FOR THE HOMELESS PROGRAM Boston, MA
Housing Intern: Researched effects of housing interventions on health outcomes for chronically homeless patients,

2008 CITY OF NEW QRLEANS - OFFICE OF RECOVERY & DEVELOPMENT New Orleans, LA
Policy Intern: Advised on CDBG-funded program to provide low-interest loans to refailers to increase fresh food access in
low-income neighborhoods affected by Hurricane Katrina.

2007 OFFICE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE GOVERNOR JOHN LYNCH ' Concord, NH
Summer Intern: Conducted research on emergency public health laws and supported citizen services office.

Education

2010-12 LONDON SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS _ London, UK
Marshall Scholarship for graduate education awarded by UK government. Completed two master’s degrees:

¢ MSc in Regional and Urban Planning: graduated with distinction, awarded prize for best overall performance.
* MSc in Social Policy and Planning: graduated with distinction, awarded prize for the best dissertation.
2006-10 PRINCETON UNIVERSITY ' Princeton, NJ

AB in Public Affairs at Woodrow Wilson School of Public & International Affairs: graduated summa cum laude, Phi
Beta Kappa. Prize for the Wilson School’s best undergraduate thesis.
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Harvard Kennedy S'chc-bol Government Performance Lab

' Key Personnel

Name Job Title
Jeffrey Licbman Professor and Director
Scott Kieiman Program Director

Jegsica Lanney ‘ Project Leader
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DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES.
DIVISION FOR CHILDREN, YOUTH & FAMILIES

Jeffrey A Meyers : 129 PLEASANT STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301-3857
Commissioner : 603-271-4451.  1-B0D-852-3345 Ext. 4451).
Fax: 603-271-4729 TDD Access: 1-800-715-2964 www.dbhs.nh.gov

1
Dircctor :

July 2, 2019

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Hongrable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

- -

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division for Children, Youth and
Families, to enter into a sole source agreement with the President and Fellows of Harvard College,
acting through the Taubman Center for Stale and Local Government at the Harvard Kennedy School

_ Government Performance Lab (*GPL"), of 79 John F. Kennedy Street, Taubman Building, Third Floor,

Cambridge, MA 01238, to provide intensive technical assistance to improve the delivery of child
protection services, at no cosl to the Departmént, effective upon the date of approval by the Governor
and Executlve Council through June 30, 2021. . ‘

The agreement does not. include funding information because GPL is provrdmg the serwces to
the Department at no cost to the State. The funding for GPL’s.work is supported in large part by
Casey Family Programs as well as by other local and national phitanthropic organizations. \Casey
Family Programs is providing financial support for GPL's work not only in New Hampshire but for-
similar projects in several states. GPL has estimated that the value of technical assistance provided
through this partnershlp will be approximately $1.32 million dollars.

While this agreement is at no cost to the Department, the Department anticipates seeking
approval in the future to enter inlo a separate agreement with GPL to fund an additional research
project or projects. The Department anticipales the cost of the research project to be $70,000 per .
year for two years. The Department will finalize and present this future item followmg the completion
of the budget process for this blennlum

EXPLANATION

This agreement is sole source because the Harvard Kennedy School Government
Performance Lab (GPL) provides unique, intensive technical assistance to states to enhance child
welfare and early childhood policies, ‘programs and services. Since 2011, GPL has engaged in 89
government-side technical assistance projects with 65 jurisdictions spread across 30 states, using -
new dala-driven public management tools to achieve better outcomes. Approval of this agreement'
will allow the Department to work with GPL to design and implement a variely of “Innovation
Initiatives” to support New Hampshire's child welfare transformation efforts. “Innovation fnitiatives”
include improvements to procurement and contracting processes, use of data to inform service
delivery and referral systems, piloting of new services or service-delivery models, establishing active -
contract management systems betwaen governmenis and service providers, optimizing resource
allocation, and other initiatives designed to improve government performance.

- JULOS'19 P 3:59 pAS ;1§ | .‘\\W



His Exceliency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council
Page 20of 3

The Departmenl is seeking GPL's assistance to enhance the system serving at risk children
and families to prevent maltreaiment, reduce the need for children to be placed outside their homes
and communities, and to create connections across the Department and the community to support-
families before crises occur, - GPL will provide services 1o develop the Department's capagily to
strategically use data, contracts, and provider management to better meet the needs of families and
produce improved outcomes.

This Agreement outlines the roles and responsibilities of the Department and the GPL team,
which includes Fellows, researchers, students, and staff affiliated with the GPL, and sets forth other
arrangements between the Department and GPL relating to the assistance to be provided regarding
the Innovation Initiatives. The Department’s Division for Children, Youth and Families has had the
assistance of an embedded Fellow since the summer of 2018, The two primary projects have
focused on Central Intake policy and practice and conducting an extensive review of the foster parent
recruitment, licensing and relention programs to make recommendations for improvements. Through
this agreement, three additional Fellows will be added, one of which will be embedded in the

- Department's centralized Contracts Unit to improve how solicitations and contracts are written,
organized, and managed to achieve desired outcomes.- Additional assistance from GPL will include:

s Strengthening the Department’s upstream prevention and child abuse hotline operations to
improve communily connections and reduce unnecessary assessments. This will involve

. continuing to suppart improved decision-making and operations at the hotline with data-driven
adjustments to supervision, decision-supporl, and policy about which reports require child
protection responses. It will also involve strengthening the use of data to more systematically
make connections to primary prevennon resources — such as family resource centers, family

... home visiting, early childhood, economic supports and health and wellness care for families -
- .. for screened-out families and families Iooklng for information on community-based pregrams. --

« Building a voluntary services array focused on family-strengthening and other community-
based resources that keep children safe in their homes and communities and prevent entry
into out of home care. GPL will support-the Department in proactively using case and
population level data te assess and identify child and family's needs, align and monitor service
plans, and improve service delivery in real-lime. Additionally, GPL will support development
and continuous improvement of a statewide continuum of locally designed and delivered
prevention services, including a System of Care to preventatively respond to youth behavioral
health care needs, family home visiting, and Family Resource Centers. »

e Revamping management service strategies for open child welfare cases that enable children
to be safely cared for in their families and communities. This will involve helping Department
staff design, test and spread needs assessment, procurement, matching, and performance
management approaches to key services across its in-home and oul-of-home service
continuum, including as-needed coaching to'improve the capacity of foster care system. i will
also involve building the Department's capacity to spread and sustain these management
‘practices 1o its other program areas serving children and families through template materials,
sample contracls, case studies, implementation manuals, and staff trainings.

Should the Governor and Executive -Council not authorize this Request, the Department will _
miss out on an opportunity to develop and implement initiatives to modernize and improve the
delivery of services to New Hampshire's most vulnerable children. The Depariment'’s ability to better
prevent child abuse and neglecl, including fatalities, and to keep children safely in their homes and
communities will be significantly diminished.



HIS Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council
Page 3 of 3

Area served: Statewide.
Source of Funds: No state or federal funds. Philanthropic funds supporling this Agreement are
provided direclly to GPL.

tfully sugmitted,
WQ

. : Jeffrey A. Meyers -
Commissioner :

The Department of Health and Human Sorvices' Mission rs Lo join communities nnd families
in providing opportunitics for citizons to achieve Health and independence



Collaboration Agreement
This Collaboration Agreement (“Ag[ccmcht”) is entered into as of July 1, 2019 between
" President and Fellows of Harvard College acting through the Taubman Center for State and
Local Government at the Harvard Kennedy School (*Harvard™) and the State of New Hampshire
(the “State™), acting through the Department of Health and Human Services (“Agency”).

The pi:rposcs of this Agreement arc (A) Lo state terms regarding the engagement and role of a
Govemnment Innovation Fellows (“Fellows™) and any other Harvard Kennedy School
Government Performance Lab ("GPL") researchers, students, scholars and staff who will assist
the Agency in the development and implementation of Innovation Initiatives as described below;
and (B) to set out other arrangements between the State and Harvard relating to the assistance the -
Harvard Team, as described below, will be providing to the:Agency with regards to the State's
Innovation Initiatives. |
The “Harvard Team” means, coliectively, persons from or affiliated with Harvard who provide !
services under this Agreement, including the four (4) Fellows, GPL Director Professor Jeffrey
Licbmdn, other researchers, students, scholars and staff affiliated with the CPL, and other

Harvard researchers.

“Innovation Initiatives” may include improvements to procurement and contracting processes,

use of data to inform service delivery and referral systems, piloting of new services or service-
delivery models, establishing active contract management systems between governments and
service providers, pay for success and performance-based contracts, optimizing resource

allocation, and other initiatives designed to improve government performance and make

.government programs more effective.

Effective Date: this Agreement will be effective as of July 1, 2019 or the date of approval by
Governor and Council, whichever is later.

The parties agree as follows:

1. Responsibilities of Fellows. The Fellows will work with an Agency team in connection with
- Agency’s analysis of and process for implementation of Innovation Initiatives. The Fellow’s
responsibilities will include general support for the Agency team; data.collection and analysis
and other technical support;.prcparation of bﬁeﬁng papers, reports, and procurement documents;



and as;sisling in communications with responsible officials of the State and external stakeholders
as appropriate. The Fellow and the other members of the Harvard Team will not provide, and are

- - not-engaged-or-authorized-by-the-State to provide,-legal advice or-services,-notwithstandingthat _ . ... ___ _

one or more may be trained as lawyers.

2. Supervision. Kimberly Crowe, a senior advisor at Agency as designated by the Agency, will
give work assignments to the Fellows and generally supervise the Fellows® work at Agericy. The
advisor will provide mentorship and guidance to hélp support the Fellow’s tasks, objectives, and
professuonal dcvelopmcnl and will provide objectwe fgcdback on the Fellow’s performance.
Professor J effrey Liebman of Harvard and other members of the Harvard Team will review and
assist the Fellow with the Fellow’s technical work. The advisor and a member of the Harvard
Team will confer regularly on the Fellow's assignments and work. The Agency reserves the
right to dismiss any fellow from the engagement with Agency at any time if the relationship is
not mutually agreeable. If a fellow is dismissed, Harvard will not be required to provide &
replacement. A

3. No Salary and Benefits; Office Facilities. These fellowships do not establish an

employee/employer relationship with the State. ‘The State shall have no responsibility for
. compensation or employment benefits for the Fellow, Professor Liebman, or other members of

the Harvard Team with respect to any work done pursuant to this Agreement. Agency will

provide the Fellow with suitable office resources, including a desk, a computer, a phone, an .

email account, and appropriate access to Agency networks, servers, and printers. Agency will

also provide access to general productmty software such as word and data processing and email
~programs. The Fellow shall sign and comply with the State’s Computer Use Policy. Compliance’

with the Computer Use_Poliby is required only when the Fellow is using the State’s

computers/laptops; networks, servers; email program; and-printerss- - == = ==mmm - semen e

4. Status of Fellow. The Fellow will be treated as an intern unpaid by the State and shall be
required to complete State training and other requirements for persons in said status, including
the lollowing:

(1) Prior to the start of the fellowship, the Fellow shall compiete and retum the State’s
Criminal Records Release Authorization Form, the Bureau of Elderly and Adult Services’
(BEAS) State Regisfry Consent Form, and the Division for Children, Youth and Families
(DCYTF) Central Registry Name Search Authorization. The State reserves the right to reject any
Fellow based upon the results of the background checks.

HXS GPL Agreement New Hampshire 2018-2020 . 2



(2) The Fellow shall attend orientation, which will include training on the State’s policies,
procedures and rules, including but not limited to quality assurance and risk management, fire
and safety, emergency codes and the dress code.

5. Other Support. As agrécd from time to time by Professor Liebman and the Agency advisor,
Professor Licbmaﬁ, supported by the Fellow and by other members of the Harvard Team as
Professor Liebman judges to be appropriate, will, subject to the last sentence of this paragraph,
(i) assist the Agency in policy analysis; (ii) assist the Agéncy in the preparation of requests for
proposals and other mateérials for third parties with respect to their p&ssible participation in
financing of or fumishing services _undcr Innovation Initiatives for the State, and provide other
technical support; and (iii) when requested by the Agency, meet with such third parties to help
explain the technical aspects of Innovation Initiatives. Agency agrees that, if members of the
Harvard Team shall do work relating to any Innovation Initiative contract between the State and
a third party, or at the request of the Agency communicate on the State’s behalf with that third
'party about the Innovation Initiative, said Innovation Initiative contract will include as a contract
term a limitation of liability of Harvard and the Harvard Team to the same effect as is set out in

+ section*9. The Harvard Team may also, at its discretion and as a condition of providing serviccs‘
‘relating to said contract or said third party, require the third party to agree 1o such limitation of
liabtlity in a separate contract with Harvard.

6. Confidential Informnation. In order to provide services under this Agreement, the Harvard Team
will need to participate in intemnal discussions among State employees, and view internal State
documents and written communications, including, but not limited to, confidential information
under NH RSA 170-G:8, but excluding information not exempt from disclosure under NH RSA
91-A, that pertain 1o the Innovation Initiatives and the Harvard Team’s services (such i
discussions, internal documents and written communications being hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “"Confidential lnfonna_ition”).

-
'

All confidential information, ir{cluding, but not limited to, individually identifiable health
information shall be treated as confidential by the Fellow and all members of the Harvard Team
in accordance with all federal, state or local laws and regulations governing the confidentiality
and privacy ofindividually’identiﬁable health information, including, without limitation, the
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) and aiy regulation and
official guidelines promulgated thereunder.

HKS GPL Agreement New Hampshire 2018-2020 - 3
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Prior to granting access to confidential information, the State shall ensure that the Fellow and
relevant members of the Harvard Team have completed, signed, and returned the State's
—-=- ~ .- -—Confidentiality-Agreement-——— —— — ———- o e -

6.1 Non Disclosure of Confidential Information. Except as provided in Paragraph 6.2 below, the
Harvard Team shall (i) hold the Confidential Information in confidence, and (ii) not at any time
divulge, disclose, or communicate the Confidential Information to anyone other than State
employees except as authorized by Agency, or use the Confidential Information for any
purpose other than in connection with services under this Agreement. The Harvard Team will
protect the Confidential Information by using the same degree of care, but no less than a
reasonable degree of care, to prevent unauthorized disclosure or publication of the

‘Confidential Information as the Harvard Team uses to protect Harvard’s confidential .

information of a like nature.

6.2. Other Disclosure Provisions. Paragraph 6 and Paragraph 6.1 do not apply with respect to the
Confidential Information that (a) was in the Harvard Team’s possession before the effective date
of this Agreement; (b) is or becomes a matter of public knowledge or publicly available other than
through breach of this Section 6 by the Harvard Team; or (c) is disclosed by the Harvard Team
with the prior written approval of a-duly authorized representative of the State. In addition, the
Harvard Team may disclose Confidential information if such disclosure is required by any
law, rule, regulation or judicial-or administrative process, provided that, if permitted by
applicabie law or regulation, the Harvard Team shall notify Agency prior to any such
required disclosure. :

The State is subject to the requirements of RSA 91-A, Access 10 Governmental Records and
- = - Meetings,and-may receive-a-request-for-public disclosure-of-information-refated to-this . — e -cnvocene

Agreement. To the extent permitted by law, the State shall not disclose the Harvard Team’s

confidential information that is exempt from public disclosure under RSA 91-A:5, such as '

financial infon'n';tion, proprietary information such as research results and analysis, trade

secrets, business an& financial models and forecasts, and proprietary formulas. The Siate

shall notify the Harvard Team if it receives a request for public disclosure under RSA 91-A

regarding this Agreement and the Harvard Team shall have the opportunity to object to the

release of the information requested.

7. Avoiding Conflicts of Interest. Members of the Harvard Team will not, at any time during
the term of the Agreement, provide services to vendors or service providers in connection with

" transactions or proposed transactions with the State relating to the financing or implementation
by the State of Innovation Initiatives that the Harvard Team advised on or assisted in developing.
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Members of the Harvard,"l'cam rﬁay at any time work with and advise other states, counties,
municipalities or government agencies that are undertaking similar Innovation Initiatives,
including other jurisdictions that may be applying for the same federal grants that the State may
be applying for. Members of the Harvard Team may also advise the U.S. federal government and
govemments in other countries on strategies to advance similar Innovation Initiatives.

8. No Authority. Professor Liebman, the Fellow and any other members of the Harvard Team
will have no authority to negotiate any agreements for the State, to incur any obligations or
expenses on behalf of the State, or to act in any other manner on bchalfoflhc State orin its
name. :

9. Limitation of Liability. The State'acknowlcdges that performance of the work described in
this Agreement will involve the expression of professional ideas, judgments and opinions by the-
Harvard Team, and that it is in the State's interest to have such ideas, judgments and opinions
expressed frankly, without concem on the part of the Harvard Team or Harvard that such ideas,
judgments and opinions will be deemed representations, warranties or covenants ubon which the
State may claim reliance. The State further acknowledgcs that the Innovation Initiatives are
relatively new, little-used and Jittle-studied tools. Accordingly, the State understands and agrees
that the Harvard Team and Harvard do not and will not make any warranties or representations
of any kind, express or implied, concerning the accuracy of ideas, Judgments, opinions,
recommendations, projections, analyses or estimates which any membcr of the Harvard Team
provides to the State under this Agreement (collectively, “Contnbutlons“) The State further
agrees that (i) any decision the State may make to rely on any Contributions shall be at its own
risk; and (i) neither Harvard nor any member of the Harvard Team shall be liable to the State
for, and the State shall not make any claim against Harvard or any member of the Harvard Team
relating 10, any claims, liabilities, losses, damages, costs or expenses of any kind (in'cluding'
attorneys’ fccs) which State may at any time sustain or incur in connrection with or arising out of
any Contributions or the State's reliance thereon or use thereof, other than claims, liabilities,
losses, damages, costs and expenses resulting from the gross negligence or intentional
misconduct of any member of the Harvard Team. This agreement shall not be construed to limit
the State’s assertion of any right to sovereign immunity, including without limitation, exercise of
.discretionary executive or planning functions of the Agency. Without limiting the foregoing, in
no event shall the State or Harvard or any member of the Harvard Team be liable for any
indirect, consequential, exemplary or punitive damages whatsoever in connection with claims
arising under or relating to this Agreement, whether based upon a claim or action of contract, ’
warranty, negligence, strict liability, or any other legal theory or cause of action, even ifadvised
of the possibility of such damages.

HKS GPL Agreement New Hampshire 2018-2020 ' ’ 5



e e —— ——. |0-Intellectual-Property-and-Publication-Rights . - — —— .. c. — i i

10.1 Work Product and Harvard Created Materials. *

The term Work Product as used herein comprises works subject to copyright, including
materials, notes, designs, technical data, methodologies and know-how, research findings,
reports, documentation, and other similar work product in any media or formats.

The State shall retain sole ownership of all rights, title, and interest, including all copyrights
and other intellectual property rights, in and to Work Product developed or acquired by the
Staté or on the State’s behalf either prior to this Agreement or under this Agreement without
the active participétion of the Harvard Team.

Harvard shall be the sole owner of all rights, title, and interest, including all copyrights and

other intéllectual property rights, in and to the Work Product conceived, created or provided

by Harvard or the Harvard Team under this Agreement (“Harvard Created Materials™),

whether alone or with any contribution from the State or its personnel. To the extent the State

or its personnel may acquire any right or interest in such Work Product by operation of law,
_the State hereby irrevocably assigns all such right and interest exclusively to Harvard.

In connection with the State’s pursuit of its public purpose, Harvard hereby grants to the
State a fully-paid, royalty-free, non-exclusive, worldwide, irrevocable, perpetual, assignable
. license to use, reproduce, distribute, modlfy transmit, and sublicense the Harvard Created

m oo meme e ee—ee - —Materials-in-any-media-now-known-or- hereafier dcvcloped G e e e

The State understands and accepts that Harvard intends to share Harvard Created Materials
and related analytic concepts and tools with other jurisdictions in connection with their
Innovation Initiatives.

10.2 Publication Rights. In addition to providing assistance and support to the State, a main
purpose of this Agreement for Harvard is as an opportunity to research, study, learn more
about and make publicly known the design and implementation of Innovation Initiatives.
Accordingly, Harvard and any member of the Harvard Team shall have the right to use,
publish, and present publicly any findings, analyses, data and opinions based on or derived
from Harvard Created Materials, from Contributions or from other work performed under
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this Agreement; provided that no Confidential information shall be disclosed in such
publications or presentations without the consent of the State. The Harvard Team shall
provide Agency with an opportunity to review any such materials at least 30 days prior to
submission for publication or presentation for the purpose of identifying any Confidential
Information that is contained therein and should be removed; Agency shall perform such
review within 30 days of receipt. Publications and presentations of general conclusions and
analyses drawn from work with multiple jurisdictions and publications and presentations that
summarize pub!icly available information about the State’s initiatives do not have to be
submitted for review. ) ' -

1. Term and Termination. This f_\grecmcnt will expire on June 30, 2021. Either party may
terminate this Agreement upon 30 days’ written notice to the other party. The provisions of this
Agreement concerning confidential information, limitation of liability, intellectual property and
publication rights, and publicity and use of names shall survive expiration or termination of this
Agreement. o

12. Publicity and Use of Names. Neither party may issue-a press relcase or other public’
announcement about this Agreement, nor may it use any name, trademark or in'signia of the other

party (or of any school, department or unit of the other party) for promotional purposes or any
other public purposes in connection with this Agreement, without the prior.written approval of
the other party. Without limiting the foregoing, neither party shall in any manner suggest that its
programs findings or publications have been endorsed by the other party. However, each party
may identify the other in any description of the Agreement in its customary llstmgs of actwmes
Harvard and the Harvard Team may identify the State and the Agency in pubhcat:ons about thc
Innovation Initiatives as described in Section 10.2; and the GPL may state on its website that |t is
assisting the State. S

13. ther Provisions.
(a) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and mterpreted in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hampshire (excluding conflict of laws rules).

(b) Severability. In the event that any provision or section of this Agreement shall be held to be
invalid by any court, such holding shall not affect in any respect whatsoever the validity of the
remainder of the Agreement unless the invalid provision materially affects the rights of the
parties.

HKS GPL Agreement New Hampshire 2018-2020 . 7



(¢) Notices. Any notice under this Agreement may be given in person, or sent by fax, by
electronic mail, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or by recognized delivery
service, to a party's address given from time to time by such notice, and such notice shall be
deemed to have been given when so delivered, sent by fax or electronic mail, or mailed.

(d) Force Majeure. Neither party shall be liable for any delays or failures in performance due to
circumstances beyond the party’s reasonable control.

(e) Entire Agreement; Amendment. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between
the parties with respect to the Innovation Initiatives which are the subject matter hereof, and
supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements concerning such matters. This Agreement
may not be amended or modified except with the written consent of both parties. '

(f) This Agreement hereby revokes and replaces the prior Agreement between the parties dated
June 1, 2018. -

Executed as of the date first stated above.

For the State of New Hampshire, For President and Fellows of Harvard
acting through the Department of Health College acting through the Taubman Center
and Human Services : for State and Local Government at the

. W Harvard Kennedy ¥chool
By:Yeffrey A. Meyers By: Matthew Alggr . -
Title: Commissioner, DHHS Title: Associate Dean, HKS
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The preceding Agreement, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form,

substance, and execution.

Date: 1

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL -

Namé&
Title: &~

, /}dvm@@‘r.

1 hereby certify that the foregoing Agreement was approved by the Governor and Executive
Council of the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

Date
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OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

h]

Name:
Title:



